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OUR YEAR AT A GLANCE

QUALIFICATION RECOGNITION SERVICES 
for over 10,000 people with overseas qualifications to 
help them live, work or study in New Zealand10,000

Provided 

20,000
STUDENTS TRACK THEIR 
PROGRESS in gaining NCEA 
via our new NCEA Student App

Helped over

EXAMINATION ANSWER 
BOOKLETS were marked and 
then returned to the candidate

1.1 million

STUDENTS1 WERE ENROLLED IN TERTIARY 
EDUCATION ORGANISATIONS that we quality 
assure through our integrated registration, qualification 
approval, monitoring and moderation activities

230,000

Ensured New Zealand qualifications are regarded as credible and 
robust by learners, employers, and iwi and the tertiary education 
sector by reaching a planned 74% REDUCTION IN THE 
NUMBER OF QUALIFICATIONS at Levels 1–62

74%

SENIOR SECONDARY 
STUDENTS sat the NCEA  
and NZ Scholarship external exams 
administered by NZQA

143,000

SAMPLES OF STUDENT WORK were externally 
moderated by NZQA providing assurance of quality 
assessment nationally in NZ secondary schools100,000

Over

Delivering to today’s  
learners, employers  
and providers

1 2014 Student enrolment 
numbers are from www.
educationcounts.govt.nz/
statistics/tertiary_education/
participation excluding 
Universities. Note the data 
covers only organisations 
receiving Student 
Achievement Component 
funding.

2 The reduction in the 
percentage of qualifications 
on the NZQF includes the net 
number of new qualifications 
as a result of reviews. This 
number does not include 
qualifications that will be 
expiring or discontinued as a 
result of reviews.

3 The Universal Record of 
Achievement will expand 
the current Record of 
Achievement to include 
all qualifications a learner 
has obtained whether in 
New Zealand or overseas

4 e-MCAT is the external 
Mathematics Common 
Assessment Task and the 
trial involved using Education 
Perfect software (already 
commonly used in schools) 
with the 2013 paper – see 
http://www.nzqa.govt.nz/
about-us/innovation-at-nzqa/
our-first-steps/e-mcat/ for 
further information

Over

Over
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OUR YEAR AT A GLANCE

Creating the  
platform  
for the Future

PRODUCED THE ‘GOING DIGITAL’8 SERIES OF VIDEOS 
showcasing schools that are early adopters of technology in their 
teaching, learning and assessment

Launched: 
QUALIFY FOR THE 
FUTURE WORLD

ENGAGED with the education sector on developing a 
UNIVERSAL RECORD OF ACHIEVEMENT3 that 
aims to give learners a comprehensive record of all the 
courses, standards and awards they have successfully achieved

2,470 TRIALLED an ONLINE MATHEMATICS 
ASSESSMENT (E-MCAT4) involving  
2,470 students at 27 SCHOOLS

DELIVERED a pilot of an ONLINE ASSESSMENT TOOL 
FOR STUDENTS WITH READING AND/OR WRITING 
DISABILITIES to use in NCEA exams5

RELEASED phase 1 of the Sector Qualification Register (SQR) to 
SHARE QUALIFICATION DATA SEAMLESSLY WITHIN 
THE EDUCATION SECTOR6

PROMOTED an initiative to partner with education system 
agencies to encourage MORE MĀORI STUDENTS TO BE 
SUCCESSFUL IN STEM7 RELATED NCEA SUBJECTS

5 The tool is part of our  
Special Assessment 
Conditions (SAC) work, 
which is extra help for 
approved students when 
they are being assessed for 
NCEA, to remove barriers 
to achievement and provide 
a fair opportunity to achieve 
credits.

6 SQR is a database that 
stores information about 
qualifications listed on the 
NZQF–see http://www.nzqa.
govt.nz/providers-partners/
approval-accreditation-
and-registration/listing-
qualifications-on-the-nzqf/
sector-qualifications-register/

7 Science, Technology, 
Engineering and Mathematics

8 The videos are available on 
the NZQA website at http://
www.nzqa.govt.nz/about-us/
innovation-at-nzqa/0going-
digital/
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Foreword from  
the NZQA Board

NZQA has had 
a successful year 
delivering on our Future 
State programme and 
business as usual quality 
improvements. Our 
end of year outcomes 
reflect substantial work 
on key initiatives and 
their positive impacts 
on education sector 
outcomes.
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Foreword from  
the NZQA Board

The performance of NZQA depends on fulfilling its specific 
responsibility in ensuring that New Zealand qualifications 
are regarded as credible and robust, nationally and 
internationally, as well as maximising contributions to 
the wider education system and whole of government 
objectives.

Sector and system wide objectives
The Board focuses NZQA on contributing towards 
student achievement and education system objectives, 
including:

 › Better Public Services Result Areas

 › the Business Growth Agenda

 › the Tertiary Education Strategy

 › the Māori Education Strategy: Ka Hikitia

 › Pasifika Education Plan.

Qualify for the Future World
NZQA’s vision, Qualify for the Future World, describes 
the impact NZQA is seeking for successful learner and 
society outcomes. Qualify for the Future World is a call 
to the individual and a guide to focus NZQA efforts 
on quality assurance and assessment which will help 
learners qualify for the future world of opportunities 
both in New Zealand and internationally. NZQA has 
created the following three key goals to help achieve 
this aspiration over the next five years:

 › NCEA examinations online by 2020, where appropriate

 › Qualification Recognition arrangements with at least  
50 countries by 2020

 › NZQA partners with education system agencies to 
support a 50% lift of Māori student achievement at 
NCEA level 3 in one or more standards in STEM subject 
related areas by 2020.

Keeping pace with a changing world
The New Zealand education system operates in an 
increasingly globally connected and digital world, 
and organisations like NZQA need to adapt to these 
changes.

Education is becoming increasingly borderless, as 
the global environment becomes more important to 
individuals and economies. More and more countries 
are pursuing the revenue and reputational benefits 
of international education in areas such as research 
collaboration, trade opportunities, skilled migrants and 
diplomatic advantages.

Students are learning in new ways. There is increasing 
evidence that ubiquitous use of a digital device in 
the classroom has a positive impact on educational 
outcomes9. Learners who are supported by well-
prepared teachers making use of a wide range of 
digital pedagogies are more engaged in their learning 
experience, and are well positioned to take more 
responsibility for their learning.

New Zealand’s population is changing. The 20 year 
projection is for an ageing population and an increase 

9 Spiezia, Vincenzo, 2011 Does Computer Use Increase 
Educational Achievements? Student-level Evidence from PISA 
Pages: 1–22 in OECD Journal: Economic Studies, 17 Jan 2011 
Greaves, T, Hayes, J, Wilson, L, Gielniak, M, and Peterson, R, 
for MDR (2010). The Technology Factor: Nine Keys to Student 
Achievement and Cost-Effectiveness.
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in Māori and Pasifika peoples of working age. These 
changes mean Māori and Pasifika learner success will 
continue to be important.

New Zealand’s workforce needs are changing. The 
future workforce will increasingly rely on science and 
technology to develop new high-value products, meet 
the demands of business and adapt to the challenges 
of a quickly changing world.

NZQA’s main response to these changes is through its 
Future State programme.

The Future State programme and 
other strategies
It is a challenging time for NZQA as it implements 
its Future State programme of work to ensure it is 
responsive and relevant to the demands of the future. 
NZQA wants learners to qualify for a future world 
that is increasingly global and digitally connected. We 
will support this through ensuring qualifications remain 
relevant, reliable, and robust within ever-changing 
contexts. The programme has multiple work streams 
and projects, and it will evolve and be delivered over a 
number of years.

A significant element of the work within the Future 
State programme relates to moving all appropriate 
aspects of assessment into an online environment. 
One aspect of this relates to digital assessment, 
and the goal of having NCEA examinations online 
by 2020, where appropriate. Another aspect 
is looking at developing a Universal Record of 
Achievement (UROA) to create an accessible, 
accurate, comprehensive and authoritative record 
covering all of a learner’s qualifications. One stream 
of work programme outside of the online focus is to 
encourage Māori achievement in STEM related areas 
through our work with our education system agency 
partners.

Te Rautaki Māori Strategy and the Pasifika Plan 
describe how NZQA will more effectively contribute 
to Māori and Pasifika learner achievement. The Board 
works with Ngā Kaitūhono on achieving the goals of 
Te Rautaki Māori and on ensuring NZQA’s approach 
to Māori knowledge is compatible with Māori values 
and consistent with Māori expectations.

Looking ahead
The 2014/15 Annual Report describes what NZQA 
delivered in the year and we are pleased with what 
has been achieved and the direction of travel. We also 
recognise that NZQA’s programme of change has only 
just started and that there are significant challenges 
ahead.

We look forward to NZQA continuing to work with 
learners, whānau, teachers, educators, iwi and industry 
so that our learners ‘Qualify for the Future World’.

Sue Suckling 
Board Chair

Neil Quigley 
Board Member
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Chief Executive’s  
Foreword

Qualify for the Future World encapsulates NZQA’s role. The 
performance of NZQA depends on our contribution to 
making the New Zealand education sector a world-leading 
education system that equips all New Zealanders with the 
knowledge, skills and competencies to be successful citizens 
in the 21st century.

Delivering to our clients
We are committed to providing the highest quality 
service to students, employers, education providers 
and other clients. Our clients are at the centre of our 
work and we need to ensure NZQA’s services are 
easy to access and use, and responsive to changing 
needs. We want our interactions with clients to be 
consistent and seamless across all our service channels.

Supporting Better Public Services
NZQA has an important role in supporting three 
Better Public Services (BPS) Result Areas.

Our work in enhancing the quality of assessment 
practices for NCEA contributes to the BPS target 
of having 85% of 18 year-olds achieving NCEA Level 
2 or an equivalent qualification on the qualifications 
framework in 2017. Last year NZQA managed 
the external exams for NCEA and scholarship for 
over 143,000 senior secondary students, marked 
and returned over 1.1 million examination answer 
booklets, and externally moderated over 100,000 
samples of student work to provide assurance on the 
quality of internal assessment in secondary schools.

NZQA also contributes to the BPS target of 60% of 
25 to 34-year olds having a qualification at Level 4 
or above in 2018, by ensuring qualifications meet the 
needs of learners, employers and iwi and supporting 
the tertiary education sector to deliver high-quality 
tertiary education.

Our work in trialling digital assessments for NCEA 
contributes to the BPS target of supporting 70% 

of all New Zealanders completing most common 
transactions with Government in a digital environment 
by 2017.

Contributing to New Zealand’s 
economic success
Our international work supports the Business Growth 
Agenda aim of growing international education for 
the building of export markets. In 2014/15 we worked 
with representatives from Australia, Europe, Malaysia, 
Hong Kong, Indonesia and China in order to achieve 
our 2020 target of having qualification recognition 
arrangements with at least 50 countries.

Enhancing the quality of the Tertiary 
Education sector
We operate an integrated quality assurance system 
where all the components support each other to 
enhance the quality of the tertiary education sector. 
Our quality assurance system includes registration 
of private training establishments (PTEs); approval of 
qualifications, degrees and related qualifications, other 
programmes; and training schemes. It also includes 
assessment of the consistency of graduate outcomes; 
moderation of assessment standards; monitoring of 
degree programmes; conducting external evaluation 
and review; and risk management. During the year the 
approach was independently reviewed and was found 
to be fit for purpose.
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Continuing to improve the 
New Zealand Qualifications 
Framework
NZQA maintains the New Zealand Qualifications 
Framework. In 2014/15 NZQA achieved a planned  
74% reduction in the number of qualifications at  
Levels 1–6 at the approval to develop stage, which 
means we exceeded our 72% forecast for this work.

Implementing our Future State 
programme
To create a platform for future learners, NZQA has 
been trialling new ways of delivering services. We 
piloted digital assessments and moderation for NCEA, 
which will continue in the 2015/16 financial year as we 
work towards the goal of NCEA external assessments 
being available online by 2020, where appropriate.

For our learners to have their knowledge and 
skills validated in New Zealand and internationally, 
New Zealand needs qualifications that are portable 
and transferable. This will reduce duplication of 
learning when learners move to study between 
education organisations and countries. To meet 
these needs, NZQA will continue projects in 2015/16 
to identify ways of promoting the portability and 
transferability of learning.

NZQA has continued to work with other jurisdictions 
to extend the global reach of the NZQF and enhance 
its credibility and enable the transferability and 
portability of qualifications for learners.

Creating the platform for our future 
success
To ensure our future success, we are increasingly 
moving to co-creating solutions that will meet the 
changing needs of the education community (learners, 
teachers, schools and education-related groups). We 
will also continue working with stakeholder groups to 
ensure we are meeting their needs as we implement 
the Future State programme.

Our new People Plan (2014–18) aims to ensure we 
have the people capability to achieve our Future State 
outcomes and targets, and will be supported by a 
strategic workforce plan.

Our refreshed Pasifika Plan 2015–2017 sets out 
our contribution to accelerating Pasifika learner 
achievement. The Plan builds on the success and 
achievements of the 2012–2015 strategy and adds 
step-up initiatives for providing information to more 
Pasifika families about NCEA and expanding our use 
of data about Pasifika involvement and achievement in 
the non-university tertiary sector.

The continuation of our Te Rautaki Māori strategy 
helps accelerate Māori learner success and advances 
the use of mātauranga Māori. Our work in 2014/15 
included helping 2,166 whānau members to better 
understand NCEA through NCEA and the Whānau 
workshops and initiating a Māori in STEM work 
programme to encourage more Māori students into 
NCEA pathways.

Pursuant to section 150 of the Crown Entities Act 
2004, this is the Annual Report of the operations 
and performance of the New Zealand Qualifications 
Authority and its audited financial statements for the 
year ended 30 June 2015.

Karen Poutasi 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

9



The Role of NZQA

About our role
NZQA’s role is to ensure that New Zealand 
qualifications are regarded as credible and robust, 
nationally and internationally. Learners from all ages 
and stages, whānau, teachers, educators, iwi and 
industry all depend on NZQA to support their aims 
through:

 › managing and improving the New Zealand Qualifications 
Framework (NZQF)10

 › administering the secondary school assessment system

 › providing independent quality assurance of non-
university tertiary education providers.

About us
NZQA is a Crown entity. Our Board provides 
governance and is accountable to the Minister of 
Education. Leadership and advice are provided 
by our Strategic Management Team, which is also 
responsible for the performance and deliverables of 
the organisation.

Our performance as a Crown entity is monitored by 
the Ministry of Education.

The impacts we are seeking
NZQA supports learners, whānau, employers, iwi, 
industry and society by working to achieve the 
following three impacts:

 › Impact 1: The New Zealand Qualifications Framework is 
more relevant and better meets the needs of learners, 
employers, industry, iwi and providers

 › Impact 2: Higher-quality tertiary education in 
New Zealand

 › Impact 3: Higher-quality of assessment practices in 
New Zealand’s senior secondary schools.

These three impacts guide our performance story in 
this Annual report.

10 http://www.nzqa.govt.nz/studying-in-new-zealand/nzqf/

Achieving Education System 
Outcomes through working together
NZQA is one of eight state-sector education agencies 
that work collaboratively towards the Government’s 
vision of a world-leading education system that equips 
all New Zealanders with the knowledge, skills and 
values to be successful citizens in the 21st century. 
The other agencies are the Ministry of Education, the 
Tertiary Education Commission, the Education Review 
Office, the New Zealand Teachers Council / Education 
Council of Aotearoa New Zealand,11 Careers 
New Zealand and Education New Zealand, and the 
crown owned company Network for Learning (N4L).

NZQA works with other government agencies and 
private sector organisations including:

 › Network for Learning Ltd (N4L), to leverage Pond (an 
online platform that connects teachers, students, school 
administrators and providers of content)

 › the Ministry of Education on delivering the successful 
NCEA and the Whānau and NCEA ma le Pasifika 
workshops

 › the Tertiary Education Commission (TEC) on our shared 
interest in ensuring the quality of the tertiary education 
sector

 › CALYPSO, the joined up education system senior 
officials group

 › Industry Training Organisations to strengthen 
relationships to ensure that quality tertiary qualifications 
are delivered.

11 On 1 July 2015 the Education Council of Aotearoa 
New Zealand (EDUCANZ) was established as an independent 
statutory body and the New Zealand Teachers Council was 
disestablished. 
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NZQA’s role in international 
education
One of NZQA’s responsibilities is to increase 
the international recognition, understanding and 
portability of New Zealand qualifications. Our 
international work helps make New Zealand a 
more attractive place for students to come and 
study, supports the export education industry and 
encourages student and labour mobility.

NZQA works closely with Education New Zealand, 
the Ministry of Education, the Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs and Trade, and New Zealand Trade and 
Enterprise on its international work. Some of the 
work we do includes:

 › supporting free trade agreement negotiations involving 
qualification recognition

 › implementing qualifications recognition commitments in 
signed free trade agreements

 › providing advice and support to Pacific Island nations 
on developing qualification frameworks and quality 
assurance processes

 › improving understanding and recognition of qualifications

 › working with G2G12 partners to deliver specialised 
programmes

 › administering the Code of Practice for the Pastoral  
Care of International Students, which involves working 
with other quality assurance providers and the 
International Appeal Authority and Review Panel to 
verify that Code signatories perform as required and 
international students receive ethical and responsible 
care from their providers.

12 New Zealand G2G Partnerships Limited (G2G) provides a 
way for overseas governments to access proven New Zealand 
know-how as they go about growing their own capability.

11



Our outcomes framework 
Based on our Statement of Intent 2014/15–2017/18

GOVERNMENT 
PRIORITIES

NZQA is focused on working with its 
stakeholders and other government  
agencies to:

 + responsibly manage the Government’s 
finances

 + build a more competitive economy

 + deliver better public services to  
New Zealanders, within the tight budgets 
the Government is operating under

 + support the rebuilding of Christchurch

OUTCOMES New Zealand education sector outcomes is a “world-leading education system that equips  
all New Zealanders with the knowledge, skills and values to be successful citizens in the  
21st Century”

New Zealand’s qualifications are increasingly valued as credible and robust.

IMPACTS Impact 1

The New Zealand 
Qualifications Framework 
is more relevant and better 
meets the needs of learners, 
employers, industry, iwi and 
providers

Impact 2

Higher-quality 
tertiary education 
in New Zealand

Impact 3

Higher-quality of assessment 
practices in New Zealand’s 
senior secondary schools

KEY INITIATIVES Key initiative 1

Optimising the opportunities 
for understanding and 
use of the NZQF, both in 
New Zealand and overseas

Key initiative 2

Continuing to strengthen quality 
assurance of New Zealand 
education in a borderless world

Key initiative 3

Continuing to strengthen 
quality assurance of senior 
secondary assessment 
practices in order to meet 
current and future online 
assessment practices

OUTPUTS Provision of information  
and advisory services

Quality assurance Qualifications 
support 
structures

Secondary 
school 
assessment
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IMPACT 1:

The New Zealand 
Qualifications 
Framework is more 
relevant and better 
meets the needs of 
learners, employers, 
industry, iwi and 
providers
The New Zealand Qualifications Framework (NZQF) 
is the definitive source of accurate information about 
all quality assured qualifications, covering secondary 
school, tertiary education and those open to international 
learners. It provides information on the knowledge and 
skills holders of qualifications can be expected to have and 
the further education and/or employment opportunities 
to which the qualifications may lead.

The NZQF is designed to optimise the recognition of 
educational achievement and how it contributes to 
New Zealand’s economic, social and cultural success.

Our current and future work is focused on ensuring 
the NZQF remains credible and relevant, nationally and 
internationally.

Improvements to the NZQF
NZQA has made a number of improvements to ensure 
the NZQF is more relevant and better meets the needs of 
learners, employers, industry, iwi and providers, now and 
in the future.

New requirements for qualifications to be listed on the 
NZQF have been introduced along with a new type of 
New Zealand qualification at levels 1–6.

15



The new qualifications are focused on the skills 
required by the community or industry where 
graduates will work, and what the graduate needs to 
be able to do, be and know. We have been working 
with tertiary education organisations to review 
qualifications at levels 1–6. The reviews have been 
successful in both reducing the future number of 
qualifications and ensuring they are relevant and 
fit-for-purpose. For example, before the review 
there were 275 English language qualifications. As a 
result of the review there are now six New Zealand 
Certificates in English language. 99.6 percent of 
the mandatory reviews of qualifications have been 
completed and all new qualifications are expected to 
be listed by the end of 2016 (refer to footnote 13).

New Zealand qualifications can be achieved through a 
range of pathways. This means there may be graduates 
with the same New Zealand qualification from 
wānanga, private training establishments, institutes of 
technology or polytechnics, or industry training. To 
be confident that all these graduates have achieved 
the “same” qualification, a new quality assurance 
process has been introduced that aims to ensure there 
is consistency of graduate outcomes for the same 
qualifications regardless of the pathway.

Assuring consistency is an important step in ‘closing 
the loop’ and providing learners, qualification 
holders, employers, industry, iwi and education 
organisations with confidence in the skills of graduates 
of New Zealand qualifications. This year the first 
consistency reviews were successfully completed. We 
are embedding the learnings from these early reviews 
into the ongoing development of the approach.

The global reach of the NZQF
NZQA is working with other jurisdictions to extend 
the global reach of the NZQF. This means we are 
enhancing the credibility of the NZQF internationally 
and enabling the transferability and portability 
of New Zealand qualifications. The scope of our 
work with other jurisdictions includes comparing 
qualifications, referencing the NZQF with qualifications 
systems and frameworks as well as an occupational 
licensing system.

This year NZQA concluded a project on referencing 
the NZQF with the Australian Qualifications 
Framework.

Good progress has been made towards an agreement 
with the European Commission to align the NZQF 
with the European Qualifications Framework.

Steady progress has also been made on specific 
projects with Malaysia, Hong Kong, Indonesia and 
China. Our goal is to develop an efficient process 
including methodology, guidelines and tools for 
referencing qualifications frameworks.

Promoting portability and 
transferability of learning
This year NZQA continued its project to identify 
ways to promote portability and transferability of 
learning. We are intending to expand the current 
record of achievement to record a wider range of 
qualifications and other learning. This will make it 
easier for learners, their family/whānau, employers, 
academics and others to validate their knowledge and 
skills in New Zealand and internationally. We expect 
that eventually it will reduce duplication of learning 
when learners move to study between education 
organisations and countries.
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Impact Indicators

Cumulative reduction in the number of qualifications on the framework since 2011

Measure
Actual 

2012/13
Actual 

2013/14
Actual 

2014/15
Forecast 
2014/15

Forecast 
2015/16

Forecast 
2016/17

Forecast 
2017/18

% of reduction in 
qualifications13

45% 71% 74% 72% 73% 74% 75%

Number of qualifications 2,526 1,349 1,207 1,280 1,250 1,210 1,153

Case Study: Referencing the New Zealand  
and Australian Qualifications Frameworks

In 2014/15 NZQA completed a project that referenced 
the New Zealand and Australian Qualifications 
Frameworks, resulting in the establishment of a 
relationship between the levels of both frameworks.
The referencing process builds an understanding of New Zealand qualifications in Australia and vice versa. It 
facilitates transparency and provides reliable information on the comparability of the national frameworks in both 
countries, validating the credibility and robustness of each countries’ qualification systems, including knowledge and 
understanding of the quality assurance processes that underpin them.

NZQF AQF

NZQF Level 1 AQF Level 1
NZQF Level 2 AQF Level 2
NZQF Level 3 AQF Level 3
NZQF Level 4 AQF Level 4
NZQF Level 5 AQF Level 5
NZQF Level 6 AQF Level 6
NZQF Level 7 AQF Level 7
NZQF Level 8 AQF Level 8
NZQF Level 9 AQF Level 9
NZQF Level 10 AQF Level 10

13 The reduction in the percentage of qualifications on the NZQF includes the net number of new qualifications as a result of reviews, 
and is calculated based on applications received on completion of the first stage of qualification development – approval to develop. 
The measure does not report the number of qualifications listed on the NZQF following the second stage of qualification development 
(approval to list) and does not include qualifications that will be expiring or discontinued as a result of the reviews.
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IMPACT 2:

Higher-quality 
tertiary education in 
New Zealand
NZQA operates an integrated quality assurance system in 
which all the components support each other. The quality 
assurance system includes registration of PTEs; approval 
of qualifications, degrees and related qualifications, 
other programmes; and training schemes. It also includes 
assessment of the consistency of graduate outcomes; 
moderation of assessment standards; monitoring of 
degree programmes; conducting external evaluation and 
review, and risk management.

The basis of the quality assurance system is the Evaluative 
Quality Assurance Framework, which uses an evaluative 
approach and:

 › covers the quality assurance of the non-university tertiary 
education sector

 › uses evaluation theory and practice to reach well-informed, 
consistent and reliable evidence-based judgements about all 
aspects of provider performance and capability

 › has a practical focus on outcomes and key contributing 
processes

 › builds awareness and improvement through tertiary 
education organisations’ (TEO) self-assessment.

Enhancements to the quality  
assurance system

We are increasing our use of administrative data 
to better understand risk

The quality assurance system continues to progress. 
NZQA is strengthening its management of risk to quality 
and has commenced analysis or mining of administrative 
data. This involves, amongst other information and 
intelligence, the use of data held by NZQA, TEC and the 
Ministry of Education. The aim is to alert NZQA to a 
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possible risk within a specific TEO and includes a focus 
at programme level. A key factor with this enhanced 
approach will be that several risk factors, which in 
themselves may not necessarily trigger an investigation, 
may together alert NZQA to a risk situation. NZQA 
and TEC are working more closely as both agencies 
align their respective risk criteria and data analysis 
tools based on available data.

We have strengthened our approval and 
accreditation processes

NZQA is continuing to develop its quality assurance 
practices to improve educational quality and 
performance. In 2015, there has been a focus on 
further embedding evaluative quality assurance into 
TEO entry processes, in particular, qualification listing, 
programme approval and accreditation, approval of 
standards and consent to assess. This includes further 
embedding of mātauranga Māori evaluative quality 
assurance into all our processes.

We have done this to provide greater clarity about 
NZQA’s expectations on quality of programmes and 
training schemes, and types of evidence required 
to support applications. In the new programme 
approval and accreditation guidelines, NZQA has 
described key attributes of a quality programme, 
and has linked these attributes through to specific 
evidence requirements. We are also refining evaluative 
questions to focus analysis and better link approvals 
to other parts of the quality assurance framework. 
This has all been packaged up into refreshed guidance 
documents for providers.

These revised guidelines means we will deliver 
differently, simplify our processes and position  
NZQA for the future.

We are currently revising the guidelines for  
Level 7 Diplomas. The monitoring guidelines for 
degree and related programmes have been reviewed 
and published.

Our evaluative framework is ‘fit for purpose’

The evaluative approach used by NZQA was 
independently reviewed as part of a wider review 
commissioned by NZQA and the Tertiary Education 
Commission (TEC) undertaken by Deloitte over the 
reporting period14. The report was commissioned 
following a series of focused reviews into a small 
number of tertiary education organisations where 
issues were identified concerning programme quality 
and financial accountability. The quality assurance 
framework was found to be ‘fit for purpose’ and 
that the “broad approach to monitoring TEOs has 
the principal elements expected of a comprehensive 
framework”. All recommendations of the independent 
review will be completed by the end of 2015.

14 The review report from Deloitte, the Review of Tertiary 
Education Organisation monitoring framework, is available on 
the NZQA website at http://www.nzqa.govt.nz/assets/About-
us/News/Review-of-Monitoring-Framework-Report.pdf
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Impact Indicators
All TEOs (non-university) results as at 30 June 2015

Educational Performance
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Highly 
confident Confident Not yet 

confident Not confident

Highly confident

115 PTEs

2 ITOs 

3 ITPs

10 PTEs 

1 ITO

Confident

110 PTEs

2 ITOs 

8 ITPs

2 wānanga 

225 PTEs 

9 ITOs

7 ITPs

1 wānanga

 
 

Not yet confident 11 PTEs 13 PTEs

Not confident 1 PTE 1 PTE 

Key
Category 1 provider:

Highly confident in 
educational performance

Confident or better in 
capability in self-assessment

Category 2 provider:

Confident in educational 
performance

Confident or better in 
capability in self-assessment

Category 3 provider:

Not yet confident in either 
educational performance or 
capability in self-assessment

Category 4 provider:

Not confident in either 
educational performance or 
capability in self-assessment

Monitoring of the cohort of TEOs in Category 3 or 4 at 30 June 2012 –  
percentage of this cohort remaining in Category 3 or 415

Actual  
2014/15

Forecast  
2014/15

Forecast  
2015/16

Forecast  
2016/17

Forecast  
2017/18

7.14% 30–35% 0–10% 0–10% 0–10%

15 NZQA monitors the cohort of TEOs (42 TEOs) that were in  
Category 3 or Category 4, as at 30 June 2012. NZQA expects  
that the TEOs in this cohort will either improve their outcome  
at the next EER as a result of lifting their performance or exit  
the system.
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IMPACT 3:

Higher-quality of 
assessment practices 
in New Zealand’s 
senior secondary 
schools
NCEA provides secondary students with access to a 
flexible assessment system that supports students’ future 
success. NCEA is a high quality and flexible qualification, 
providing a pathway to tertiary education, workplace 
training and employment. NZQA administers NCEA 
for senior secondary students and ensures that schools 
follow robust and rigorous assessment processes through 
oversight of schools’ internal assessment, and management 
of external NCEA examinations and New Zealand 
Scholarship.

Internal assessment
NZQA’s role in supporting internal assessment includes 
provision of quality assurance requirements to schools, 
reviews of assessment processes, and external moderation 
of schools’ internal assessment.

Reviewing internal assessment practices

NZQA works in partnership with schools to manage 
assessment for national qualifications. NZQA performs 
this role through Managing National Assessment (MNA) 
reviews. In a MNA review NZQA undertakes a formal 
review of the assessment practices of schools, reporting 
on the strengths and weaknesses of practices and 
documenting issues the school must address in order to 
ensure the ongoing quality of assessment practice.

NZQA’s confidence in a school’s assessment practice is 
reflected in the length of the review cycle. NZQA expects 
the majority of schools to be on a review cycle of three or 
four years. As at 30 June 2015, 84.3% of schools are on a 
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three or four year cycle. NZQA’s role in working with 
schools on continuous improvement initiatives is aimed 
at ensuring this percentage does not decline below 
the forecast 75–85% while the integrity of its review 
process and determination of findings is maintained.

As at 30 June 2015 the MNA review cycle for schools 
is as follows:

Review cycle Number of schools

1 year 11

2 years 61

3 years 310

4 years 76

Total16 458

NZQA identifies areas of improvement for schools on 
a one or two year review cycle, and provides support 
to these schools so that their assessment practice lifts 
to match the good practice followed by the majority 
of schools.

Targeted visits to schools are carried out between 
review cycles to focus on areas where performance 
can be improved.

External moderation of schools’ internal 
assessment

During 2014/2015, NZQA externally moderated over 
100,000 samples of student work from secondary 
schools to provide an assurance that assessment 
decisions in relation to assessment standards are 
consistent, and meet the national standard. Within 
this, a random sample of student work is moderated 
to provide the national moderator to teacher 
agreement rate.

External expert advice received is that 85% is an 
excellent agreement rate. For the 2014 academic 
year the moderator to teacher agreement rate was 

16 This excludes seven new schools, eight schools for which 
a review date is still to be set, seven schools not providing 
NCEA, and eight schools in the Pacific.

91.9% at the level of credit, up from 88% in 2013. The 
agreement rate was 82.8% at the level of grade up 
from 75.9% in 201317. These agreement rates indicate 
that high-quality assessment practice is occurring in 
New Zealand’s senior secondary schools.

Supporting best practice

In 2014/2015, NZQA continued to provide workshops 
to teachers to enhance their assessment practice. 
NZQA provided 140 ‘Best Practice Workshops’ to 
increase teacher confidence when making judgements 
for internally assessed standards; provide information 
on modifying existing assessment resources to better 
meet the needs of students; and support teachers in 
collecting assessment evidence to better meet the 
needs of students.

NZQA has been conducting pilots to deliver the 
workshops in an online environment. These will 
give teachers in remote locations access to online 
discussions and materials designed to improve teacher 
assessment judgements and confidence.

NZQA has revised level one and two annotated 
examples of student work that better illustrate the 
grade boundaries for all internally assessed standards. 
These exemplars are designed with teachers in mind 
to assist them in improving their assessment practice.

A culturally appropriate quality assurance model 
for externally moderating Te Marautanga o Aotearoa 
(Māori-medium Curriculum) standards has been 
developed and is now operational. The standards are 
moderated at a kāhui (panel meeting) that consists of 
teachers with significant Māori-medium assessment 
experience. This provides greater confidence in 
teachers’ assessment practice as Te Marautanga o 
Aotearoa is implemented in schools.

17 A moderator’s assessment and a teacher’s assessment agreeing 
that a student has achieved the internally assessed standard is 
agreement at the level of credit. A moderator’s grade of the 
student’s work agreeing with the teacher’s grade is agreement 
at the level of grade. 
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External Assessment
NZQA provides rigorous external examinations. Our 
role in external assessment is a major part of NZQA’s 
work programme in any given year.

In 2014, more than 143,000 students attempted a 
combination of 284 achievement standards and  
35 New Zealand Scholarship performance standards, 
with just over 1.3 million entries for these externally 
assessed standards. That is more than a million 
individual booklets, personalised so that each 
candidate received an examination paper for the 
subject standards they entered.

Robust systems underpin NZQA’s high quality 
external examinations.

A team of 400 subject specialists develop the 
examination materials. A minimum of four subject 
matter experts work to develop the examination 
papers for each examination. These are checked by 
at least two NZQA National Assessment Facilitators, 
three NZQA Editors and the subject specialists to 
ensure that the examination booklets are error-free. 
Among the examination material developed for the 
2014 academic year were 53 standards translated into 
Te Reo Māori, 20 Braille papers created for  
20 standards, and various CDs and DVDs.

NZQA administered over 400 examination  
centres in New Zealand, Niue and the Cook Islands 
and held over 124 examination sessions between  
7 November 2014 and 2 December 2014.

1,800 markers marked approximately 1.3 million 
examination papers, portfolios, written reports and 
recorded performances. To ensure that marking is to 
high quality, markers are usually school teachers with 
strong subject matter knowledge and assessment 
experience. NZQA further supports the quality 
and credibility of external examinations through 
the assistance of National Assessment Facilitators, 
who check the marking is running smoothly and to 
standard. NZQA also has systems in place to ensure 

students’ work is not marked by teachers from  
their own school.

All results are submitted electronically to be 
processed and quality assured by NZQA’s Data 
Analysis team before they are released online to 
students.

Special Assessment Conditions

NZQA continued to improve the Special Assessment 
Conditions (SAC) application process, particularly 
for low decile schools. SAC provide extra help for 
students with sensory, physical, medical and/or 
learning difficulties that might be able to be overcome 
or reduced considerably with appropriate assistance. 
The provision of SAC removes barriers so that 
students have a fair opportunity to achieve.

NZQA worked with Ministry of Education funded 
Resource Teacher: Learning and Behaviour (RTLB) 
cluster managers, who assisted schools to identify 
students who may be entitled to Special Assessment 
Conditions. Provisional figures show an increase in  
the number of SAC applicants approved from deciles 
1–3 schools for assessment (from 173 in 2014 to  
343 in 2015). Improving uptake of the SAC provision  
in lower decile schools remains a priority and a focus 
of ongoing actions.

NZQA also:

 › Launched a new online facility for SAC applications in 
late 2014 that streamlined the process and standardised 
the data and commentary required from schools which 
has led to an increase in overall applications. The new 
online facility helped build a comparable picture of 
student needs and enabled more consistent decision-
making by the NZQA SAC panels.

 › Increased its engagement with the sector by providing 
more workshops across the country for teachers-in-
charge of Learning Support. The workshops support 
these teachers by focusing on school-based evidence 
applications and low-decile schools.
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Accelerating NCEA achievement for 
Māori and Pasifika
Our work includes initiatives specifically aimed at 
accelerating the educational achievement of Māori and 
Pasifika. Two key initiatives are the workshop based 
programmes, NCEA and the Whānau and NCEA ma 
le Pasifika. These programmes provide information 
about NCEA to parents and whānau. They promote 
the need to choose those subjects and standards 
that are aligned with students career interests. In 
2014/15 NZQA delivered 81 NCEA and the Whānau 
workshops, which were attended by 1,539 Whānau 
(2,166 Whānau members) and 48 NCEA ma le Pasifika 
workshops which were attended by 1,371 individuals 
from Pasifika families and communities.

Independent Review of the 
Effectiveness of NZQA’s 
Implementation of the 2007 NCEA 
Enhancements
In 2014, NZQA sought an independent review of the 
effectiveness of enhancements made to NCEA by 
NZQA since 2007. A panel, comprising of academics 
and practitioners, reviewed a range of enhancements 
that supported teachers’ assessment practices; 
improved student motivation; and provided clarity of 
information on NCEA.

The panel commended NZQA for its implementation 
of the 2007 enhancements and for taking a dynamic 
approach to the implementation of NCEA. The panel’s 
findings included there being a high level of confidence 
in NCEA as a credible qualification and that the 2007 
enhancements were supported in principle and in 
the way they had been implemented by NZQA. It 
was clear that people are more confident in the 
qualification, more trusting about the moderation 
processes, and appreciative of the increase in 
transparency.

The panel endorsed a finding of a 2012 review by 
the Office of the Auditor General that “NZQA is 
continually enhancing its processes and practices, 
which is helping schools to better carry out internal 
assessment”.

The panel made recommendations to NZQA 
in a number of areas such as lifting the general 
understanding and awareness of NCEA and 
strengthening professional support for the sector. 
NZQA is committed to implementing the report’s 
recommendations and continuing to work with the 
sector on future developments designed to enhance 
confidence in the NCEA.

The full report of the panel can be found on the 
NZQA website18.

NZQA’s future focus
The delivery of our core services to build higher-
quality assessment practices in senior secondary 
schools will continue. Goals for the next year include:

 › ongoing Managing National Assessment (MNA) reviews 
and targeted visits to schools that monitor schools’ 
progress between MNA reviews to improve quality 
assessment practice in schools

 › delivery of Best Practice Workshops, as needed, to 
support teachers in their assessment practice

 › a strengthened application process for schools to gain 
their initial Consent to Assess so that schools have 
stronger systems in place for their assessment practice

 › investigating suitable options for online moderation 
and trialling online external assessment to help inform 
NZQA’s strategic direction of assessment to anyone, 
anywhere, anytime, online and on demand

 › improving access to Special Assessment Conditions for all 
students, and in particular low decile students

 › by the end of 2016, all NZQA external moderation of 
internal assessments will be able to be completed online.

Future State programme initiatives
Globalisation and digital technology are changing the 
expectations of learners, employers, iwi and industry. 
This provides an opportunity for NZQA to change the 
way it delivers its services to clients. A more user-
centric approach will be required when working with 

18 The report can be found at www.nzqa.govt.nz/qualifications-
standards/qualifications/ncea/understanding-ncea/re/ 
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the education community (learners, teachers, schools 
and education-related groups) to co-create solutions.

Teaching and learning are becoming more personalised 
to each learner. Technology provides an opportunity 
for assessment to be integrated into the learning 
process, with a focus on problem solving and applying 
new knowledge to real world situations. Through 
2014/15 NZQA has been trialling digital assessment to 
ensure that NZQA’s assessment practices meet the 
changing needs of learners:

 › NCEA Level 1 Mathematics assessment via the 
Electronic Mathematics Common Assessment Task 
(eMCAT). There were 27 schools and 2,470 students 
that took part in 2014 and approximately 146 schools 
and 13,000 students will take part in 2015. 2015 results 
will count towards NCEA Level 1.

 › Special Assessment Conditions via some online 
computer-based examinations including text to speech 
software, variable font size and a dyslexic-friendly font.

In 2014/15, NZQA and N4L have been exploring 
how we can utilise the Pond platform to streamline 
moderation services for teachers.
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Organisational  
Health

Organisational Health Indicators

NZQA’s Board, Strategic 
Management Team (SMT), 
and business unit managers 
undertake monthly  
monitoring of NZQA’s 
performance against service, 
productivity and organisational 
capability targets. 
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Some of the higher-level organisational health indicators are provided in the table below.

Indicators
Actual 
2013/14

Actual 
2014/15

Financial

NZQA expenditure is monitored against a budget to achieve +/- 5% within budget Achieved 
(1%)

Achieved 
(1%)

Cash against current debt ratio is maintained at not lower than 1.10:1 on an  
annual basis

Achieved 
(2:1)

Achieved 
(2:1)

Customer Services

More than 85% of surveyed clients consider the quality of their experiences with 
NZQA to be the same as or better than their experiences with other public sector 
organisations

Achieved 
(88%)

Not achieved 
(84.2%19)

Information and Communications Technology

The availability of NZQA’s website www.nzqa.govt.nz 99.5% of the time* Achieved Achieved

99.89%

ICT reliability 99.8% 99.9%

People

NZQA performs well in the Human Rights annual ‘good employer’ analysis report 100% Not yet 
available

*This excludes planned outages

Health and Safety
The NZQA Board and SMT regularly monitor and review Health and Safety performance indicators. The 
indicators help drive initiatives to improve practices and raise the profile of health and safety with staff. NZQA’s 
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) per 200,000 hours worked for 2014/15 was 1.2, which is below 
benchmarking information for New Zealand organisations20.

Strategic workforce planning
In 2014/15, NZQA started work on a strategic workforce plan that will position NZQA to effectively deliver 
its Future State outcomes and flexibly respond to challenges. The strategic workforce plan will be delivered in 
2015/16 and will align to workforce planning guidance from the State Services Commission.

19 Note the client satisfaction measure increased in the fourth quarter to 86%.
20 Comparable rate of 1.5 per 200,000 hours worked from the 2014 Benchmarking report of the Business Leaders’ Health & Safety 

Forum – refer to www.zeroharm.org.nz/our-work/benchmarking/
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NZQA as a good employer
During 2014/15, NZQA’s People Plan 2014–18 was launched to build our people capability and position us to be 
able to successfully deliver on our Future State programme. The plan demonstrates our commitment to being a 
good employer and embeds the principles of Equal Employment Opportunities into our work.

NZQA staff actively engaged in developing the People Plan through staff focus groups and an open consultation 
process. Our cycle of regular workforce reporting and monitoring ensures we are on track with the plan and 
that we understand the demographics and needs of our staff, including access to workforce development 
opportunities.

NZQA reviews human resource polices regularly and always invites staff comment when changes are proposed. 
This year, we undertook a substantial review of the remuneration system and engaged both staff and the union 
throughout.

NZQA workforce profile as at 30 June 2015
The NZQA workforce profile by gender, ethnicity and age is outlined in the graphs and images below. NZQA 
collects data on staff with disabilities and responds to their needs as required. For example, NZQA has an 
Evacuations Staff List that identifies staff with temporary or permanent disabilities who will need support in the 
event of an emergency. This list is updated every month and is monitored by a health and safety representative.

Gender of staff as at June 2015

42% 58%

This year has seen a slight increase in the proportion of female staff (from 57% to 58%). However, this is 
proportionately similar to the previous three years. Note that staff who do not declare their gender are excluded 
from these percentages.
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Staff ethnicity – June 2015, June 2014 with comparison to NZ working age population

EUROPEAN ASIAN MĀORI PASIFIKA OTHER

80.0%

70.0%

60.0%

50.0%

40.0%

30.0%

20.0%

10.0%

0.0%

NZQA 2013/14

NZQA 2014/15

New Zealand Working Age Population

NZQA is focused on maintaining a diverse workforce. In 2014/15 there was a decrease in the proportion  
of Māori staff at NZQA from 15 percent to 13.4 percent and a slight increase in the percentage of Pasifika  
staff (from 5 to 5.8 percent). Note that staff who have not declared their ethnicity are not counted in  
these percentages.

Age staff (in 10 year groupings) as at June 2015
A large proportion of NZQA’s workforce (43.9%) is 50-years and above. Note that staff who have not declared 
their age are not counted in these percentages.

11.7% 23.4%21.0% 23.4% 20.5%

60+ YEARS50–59 YEARS40–49 YEARS30–39 YEARS20–29 YEARS
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LEADERSHIP, 
ACCOUNTABILITY 
AND CULTURE

During 2014/15 NZQA:

 › analysed and reported on workforce data (including Māori representation, 
ethnicity, age and gender statistics)

 › celebrated Māori and Pacific Island language weeks with a range of activities 
for staff participation

 › provided staff with regular forums and presentations from external and 
internal subject matter experts

 › involved staff in change management processes and provided opportunities 
for feedback.

RECRUITMENT, 
SELECTION  
AND INDUCTION

During 2014/15 NZQA:

 › conducted open, fair and transparent recruitment and selection  
processes and welcomed attendance by support persons for candidates 
during interviews

 › welcomed new staff through executive-led whakatau and orientation 
sessions, Chief Executive personal greetings and tailored orientation sessions 
provided by team leaders/managers

 › analysed recruitment data to track ethnicity and gender of applicants and 
gender pay gap for appointees

 › reviewed staff induction material provided to managers to stream-line the 
process and enhance the quality of on-boarding.

EMPLOYEE 
DEVELOPMENT, 
PROMOTION  
AND EXIT

During 2014/15 NZQA:

 › provided study assistance and professional development support

 › collaborated with education sector agencies to maximise development 
opportunities for staff

 › provided on-site Te Reo and Tikanga sessions and a range of learning  
and development opportunities including the second cohort of a  
mentoring programme that matched Māori and Pasifika mentors with 
mentees where requested

 › supported an active Māori staff network including a two day hui  
for members

 › provided on-site Pasifika awareness training

 › offered support for staff to attend Māori Language commission  
proficiency tests

 › analysed and reported on exit survey responses

 › offered information sessions for all staff regarding career planning and 
planning for retirement.

Good employer  
activities

The table below provides an overview of NZQA activities and initiatives that 
support the seven good employer criteria.
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FLEXIBILITY AND 
WORK DESIGN

During 2014/15 NZQA:

 › maintained its flexible work practices policy, including flexible working hours 
and the ability to purchase leave

 › provided tailored options and responded to individual requests to support 
work/life balance (including for those with any permanent or temporary 
disabilities)

 › ensured breast feeding facilities continued to be available and accessible 
when re-organising workspaces

 › commenced a strategic workforce plan to support Future State outcomes.

REMUNERATION, 
RECOGNITION AND 
CONDITIONS

During 2014/15 NZQA:

 › maintained a gender-neutral job evaluation methodology

 › undertook the annual remuneration forum with union representatives

 › introduced a Chief Executive award for an employee who consistently 
demonstrated NZQA values in their work

 › celebrated NZQA’s 25th Anniversary and recognised employees who had 
fulfilled 25 years loyal service.

HARASSMENT 
AND BULLYING 
PREVENTION

During 2014/15 NZQA:

 › continued accessibility, promotion and enforcement of the Code of Conduct

 › continued to maintain procedures for the management of workplace 
harassment and bullying.

SAFE AND HEALTHY 
ENVIRONMENT

During 2014/15 NZQA:

 › maintained an active Health and Safety Committee and floor warden 
network and ensured that First Aid training was up-to-date

 › provided a range of support to promote health and well-being, including an 
employee assistance programme, workstation assessments, ‘flu vaccinations, 
subsidised sport activities and an active social committee

 › promoted safety in the workplace through regular floor inspections, 
emergency preparedness reminders and communications about well-being

 › regularly reviewed sick leave, accidents, ACC leave and high annual leave 
balances.
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Statement of  
Service Performance
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Output Class 1

Output 1: Provision of Information and Advisory Services

Scope of appropriation

This appropriation is limited to providing information on government education policy and programmes, general 
information, advisory programmes, and services to the public, community groups, industry and the education 
community.

Purpose of appropriation

People need quality, timely and relevant information to make good decisions. These performance measures 
provide NZQA with an indication of how well learners, their whānau, schools, education providers and 
Government are supported in their decision-making. The number of responses and submissions provided to 
Ministers can vary significantly according to demand, therefore no estimate for these services for 2014/15 has 
been provided.

Provision of Information and Advisory Services

2014–15 
Actual ($000)

2014–15 
Budget ($000)

Variance 
($000) 

Variance 
%

Revenue

Crown 3,726 3,726 – –

Other 10 – 10 n/a

Total Income 3,736 3,726 10 –

Expenses 3,224 3,707 483 13

Surplus 512 19 493 2,592

99% of total revenue for this output is provided by the Crown. $1.1M of the revenue is for the administration of 
the capital charge.

Expenses are $0.5M below budget following effective management control and a reduction in discretionary 
expenses plus travel and telephony.
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Output 1.1: Community consultation and communication
NZQA provides information to its key clients (learners, parents, whānau, teachers, education providers, iwi, 
industry and schools). The quality and timeliness of these communications help people make informed decisions. 
The information programme and timetable can be found on NZQA’s website www.nzqa.govt.nz.

2014/15 
Actual

2014/15 
Performance 

Standard
2013/14  
Actual

Quantity measure

The delivery of an information programme on 
the following: quality assurance, the New Zealand 
Qualifications Framework, Te Rautaki Māori, NZQA’s 
Pasif ika Strategy, NCEA and other government 
education policy for which NZQA has responsibility21

100% 100% 100%

Quality measure

The percentage of external communications that meet 
good practice guidelines

100% 100% 100%

Timeliness measure

The percentage of external communications that meet 
timeframes in NZQA’s information programme plan, 
published on its website

100% 100% 100%

21 The information programme established for 2014/15 included a range of workshops, online and hard copy material. The quantity of 
individual materials such as brochures and resource kits is dependent upon demand. NZQA’s performance standard is to deliver 100% 
on its published programme.
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Output 1.2: Ministerial Support
Ministers, Parliament and the public require high-quality and timely information in order to support 
improvements to the education system.

PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Actual 

2014/15

Performance 
Standard 

2014/15
Actual  

2013/14

Quantity measure

The number of draft responses to Ministerial correspondence 
and Official Information Act requests

166 Volume is 
demand-driven

230

The number of submissions to Ministers 81 Volume is 
demand-driven

123

The number of draft responses to oral and written 
parliamentary questions

37 Volume is 
demand-driven

41

Quality measure

The percentage of draft responses to Ministerial 
correspondence and Official Information Act requests accepted 
by the Minister in terms of technical accuracy22 

100% 97% 100%

The percentage of submissions accepted by the Minister in terms 
of technical accuracy

100% 97% 100%

The percentage of responses to oral and parliamentary 
questions that are accepted by the Minister in terms of technical 
accuracy 

83.8%23 97% 100%

Timeliness measure 

The percentage of draft responses to Ministerial 
correspondence, Official Information Act requests and 
submissions that achieve the deadlines set by staff in the 
Ministers’ offices

100% 95% 100%

The percentage of responses to oral and written parliamentary 
questions that achieve the deadlines agreed with Ministers’ 
offices

100% 100% 100%

22 Technical accuracy is defined as factually correct with no errors of significance. This definition has been agreed with Ministers’ offices.
23 This measure was not achieved (83.8% with a target of 97%) due to Special Assessment Conditions (SAC) data management issues for a 

package of answers to six parliamentary questions. Replacement answers were submitted to the Ministers Office later and published in 
the official parliamentary record. A new process has been put in place to ensure SAC data generated is accurate.
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Output Class 2

Output 2: Quality Assurance

Scope of appropriation

This appropriation is limited to the provision of quality assurance services to support the New Zealand 
qualifications system that includes the ongoing development and management of quality assurance processes, 
monitoring and managing providers at risk, and the ongoing refinement and maintenance of the quality assurance 
framework.

Purpose of appropriation

Ensuring high-quality services are delivered to tertiary learners in the non-university sector is a core function for 
NZQA. These performance measures provide an indication of how well providers are quality assured and risk is 
being managed, for both learners and for the Crown’s investment in the tertiary education sector. NZQA does 
this through measuring key aspects of this work, including the Evaluative Quality Assurance Framework.

Provision of Quality Assurance

2014–15 
Actual ($000)

2014–15 
Budget ($000)

Variance 
($000) 

Variance 
%

Revenue

Crown 4,774 4,774 – –

Other 6,070 5,973 97 2

Total Income 10,844 10,747 97 1

Expenses 12,986 11,806 (1,180) (10)

Surplus (2,142) (1,059) (1,083) (102)

Expenses are $1.2M over budget as a result of increased contractor costs in the Approvals and Accreditation and 
External Evaluation and Review areas to meet service deliverables.

Approximately 44% of the total revenue for this output is provided by the Crown.
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Output 2.1: Delivery of quality assurance processes
As part of its quality assurance role, NZQA assesses applications for programme and qualification approval, and 
conducts a rolling programme of evaluations and reviews of tertiary education providers, the standards learners 
are assessed against, and their performance against national moderation requirements. NZQA measures its own 
performance with a focus on incentivising quality improvement within the sector and ensuring risk to learners 
and the Crown is minimised.

PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Actual 

2014/15

Performance 
Standard 

2014/15
Actual  

2013/14

Quantity measure

The number of external evaluations and reviews undertaken of 
tertiary education organisations (non-university) 

17724 180 141

The number of applications25 received for quality assurance 1743 Volume is 
demand-driven 

(estimate 2,000–
4,000)

New Measure

The number of tertiary education organisations with consent 
to assess NZQA-managed standards monitored in accordance 
with national external moderation requirements to determine 
how well they are assessing their learners against NZQA-
managed standards26

450 Volume is 
demand-driven 
(estimate 450–

550)

New measure

Quality measure

The percentage of tertiary education organisations (non-
university) that have sanctions applied on the basis that they 
have been placed Category 4 as a result of external evaluation 
and review27

100% 100% New measure

The percentage of approved qualifications that meet all 
published requirements for placement on the New Zealand 
Qualifications Framework

100% 100% 100%

The percentage of tertiary education organisations (non-
university) that, as a result of significant assessment and 
moderation issues relating to NZQA-managed standards, are 
being actively managed in accordance with published NZQA 
policies and processes 

100% 100% New measure

24 A significant number of PTE closures were notified too late for replacement EERs to be added to the current year’s schedule.
25 Application types include qualifications, programmes, assessment standards, consents to assess, training schemes, industry training 

programmes, degrees, PTE registration, changes of ownership from private training establishments (PTEs), government training 
establishments, wānanga, institutes of technology and polytechnics, and industry training organisations.

26 This measure applies to tertiary education organisations (TEOs) with consent to assess against NZQA-managed standards, all of 
which are monitored by NZQA. These TEOs supply to NZQA assessment plans indicating which standards they will assess against 
for a particular year. These plans, as well as a TEOs moderation history, are then used to determine the extent of moderation to be 
conducted.

27 NZQA’s Incentives and Sanctions policy commenced from April 2011. The possible results for the external evaluation and review are: 
Not confident, Not yet confident, Confident, Highly confident. Category 4 providers are those in which NZQA is “Not confident”.
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PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Actual 

2014/15

Performance 
Standard 

2014/15
Actual  

2013/14

Timeliness measure

The percentage of external evaluation and review reports 
completed and sent to all types of tertiary education 
organisations within 30 working days of the site visit 

95% 95% New measure

The percentage of applications processed to a decision for 
sub-degree programmes of study completed within 55 working 
days 

95% 90% New measure

The percentage of tertiary national external moderation 
results letters sent within 30 working days of the moderation 
submission date 

93% 70% New measure
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Output 2.2: Managing risk in the tertiary education sector (non-university)
As the regulator of tertiary education in New Zealand, NZQA has a key role in protecting learners and the 
Crown from poorly performing providers. NZQA audits provider trust accounts to ensure student fee payments 
are protected, sanctions providers it is not confident in, and manages complaints to deal with issues.

PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Actual 

2014/15

Performance 
Standard 

2014/15
Actual  

2013/14

Quantity measure

The percentage of all trust provider accounts that are audited 
by a member of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered 
Accountants (NZICA) at the request of NZQA 

95.4% 80% 89%

The number of complaints received 50 Volume is 
demand-driven 
(estimate 300)

New measure

Quality measure

The percentage of issues identified through the NZICA audits 
of provider trust accounts that are addressed by NZQA 

100% 100% 100%

The percentage of complaints regarding tertiary education 
organisations that are managed in accordance with published 
policies and procedures

100% 100% New measure

Timeliness measure

The percentage of issues identified through NZICA audits of 
provider trust accounts that are addressed by NZQA within  
30 working days of NZQA receiving notification 

100% 100% 91%

The percentage of complaints regarding tertiary education 
organisations that are concluded within 65 days

100% 90% 97.2%
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Output 2.3: Administration of the Code of Practice for the Pastoral Care 
of International Students
As the administrator of the Code of Practice for the Pastoral Care of International Students, NZQA has a key 
role in ensuring international students receive appropriate standards of advice and care. NZQA registers Code 
signatories to ensure these standards will be met, and investigates complaints relating to breaches of the Code.

PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Actual 

2014/15

Performance 
Standard 

2014/15
Actual  

2013/14

Quantity measure

The number of newly registered signatories of the Code of 
Pastoral Care

15 Volume is 
demand-driven 

(estimate 30)

New measure

The number of Code signatories28 1,108 Volume is 
demand-driven

New measure

Quality measure

The percentage of new applications for code status that are 
processed against the required criteria for acceptance as a 
signatory

100% 100% New measure

The percentage of complaints against NZQA with respect to the 
Code that are upheld

0% Fewer than  
20%29

New measure

Timeliness measure

The percentage of newly registered code signatories processed 
within a 55 day timeframe upon receipt of an application30 

69%31 90% New measure

The percentage of complaints against NZQA with respect to the 
Code which are managed within 10 working days32

100% 90% New measure

28 The number of Code signatories covers schools and tertiary education organisations and education agents.
29 As this is a new measure, it is not clear how many complaints may be made against NZQA with respect to the Code. If only a very small 

number of complaints are made, a single upheld complaint would result in a large percentage. A more specific performance standard 
for this measure will be identified in the future as NZQA develops a clearer picture of the number of complaints likely to be made 
against it with respect to the Code.

30 The 55 day timeframe is defined as 55 working days.
31 During the first quarter processing errors were made by staff, which meant five applications were delayed.  Improvements were 

introduced to ensure this did not happen again.  All applications received since October 2014 have met target timeframes.
32 One complaint against NZQA with respect to the Code was made in the 2014/15 financial year.

43



Output Class 3

Output 3: Qualifications Support Structures

Scope of appropriation

This appropriation is limited to the provision of overseeing the setting of standards and New Zealand 
qualifications. It also includes standard-setting and qualifications development responsibility, recognition and 
review of qualifications, records management processes to support the New Zealand Qualifications Framework 
(NZQF) and participation in the promotion of the New Zealand qualifications system to key education and 
immigration partner countries.

Purpose of appropriation

As stewards of New Zealand’s qualifications system, NZQA ensures that New Zealand qualifications are 
valued as credible and robust. These performance measures provide an indication of how well NZQA is 
doing in developing and maintaining the NZQF, assessing overseas qualifications, and promoting New Zealand 
qualifications internationally. NZQA does this through measuring key aspects of its work, including standards 
development, recognition of qualifications and international liaison.

Qualifications Support Structures

2014–15 
Actual ($000)

2014–15 
Budget ($000)

Variance 
($000) 

Variance 
%

Revenue

Crown 6,049 6,049 – –

Other 23,342 21,628 1,714 8

Total Income 29,391 27,677 1,714 6

Expenses 26,484 26,457 (27) –

Surplus 2,907 1,220 1,687 138

Other revenue is $1.7M ahead of budget reflecting increased demand for qualification recognition services.

Approximately 21% of the total revenue for this output is provided by the Crown.
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Output 3.1: The development and maintenance of the New Zealand 
Qualifications Framework and ensuring the credibility of standards and 
qualifications
In order for learners, education institutions, and employers to have confidence that learners are assessed against 
credible, robust and consistent standards, NZQA must ensure these standards are maintained and that results 
are available and accurate. The quality assurance process for standards involves an evaluation of the standards 
against the requirements for listing on the Directory of Assessment Standards. This is an independent quality 
assurance process applied to all standard-setting bodies.

PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Actual 

2014/15

Performance 
Standard 

2014/15
Actual  

2013/14

Quantity measure

The number of non-curriculum-based NZQA-owned 
standards maintained

767 Volume is 
demand-driven

419

The number of credits assessed by accredited tertiary 
education organisations and put on to learners’ transcripts

11,650,585 Volume is 
demand-driven

11,110,552

The number of qualification certificates issued to learners 86,205 Volume is 
demand-driven

91,693

Quality measure

The percentage of NZQA-owned standards submitted for 
quality assurance registered following no more than two 
quality assurance cycles33

100% 90% 100%

The percentage of credits for standards assessed by accredited 
tertiary education organisations accurately put on to learners’ 
transcripts

100% 100% 100%

The accuracy of national qualifications records awarded to 
tertiary learners 

100% 100% 100%

Timeliness measure

The percentage of NZQA-owned non-curriculum-based 
standards maintained and accepted for registration by their 
planned review date

98.21% 95% 99.86%

The percentage of results for standards assessed by accredited 
tertiary organisations put on to learners’ transcripts within two 
working days

99.72% 98% 99.26%

The percentage of national qualification certificates dispatched 
to learners within five working days

99.41% 98% 96.49%

33 The quality assurance process for the Directory of Assessment Standards (DAS) involves an evaluation of the standards against the 
requirements for listing and a compliance check to ensure that any issues raised in the evaluation have been addressed. This measure is 
setting a target for 9 out of 10 NZQA-owned standards being registered on the DAS following no more than two such cycles. NZQA’s 
quality assurance process can be found on its website http://www.nzqa.govt.nz.
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Output 3.2: Overseas qualifications assessment and recognition
People who want to live/work/study in New Zealand can apply to have their overseas qualifications evaluated to 
see if a comparison to a New Zealand qualification can be made. Employers, education providers and Immigration 
New Zealand need to understand what overseas qualifications mean in a New Zealand context and be assured 
that they have been robustly assessed.

PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Actual 

2014/15

Performance 
Standard 

2014/15
Actual  

2013/14

Quantity measure 

The number of qualifications recognised and then 
benchmarked against the New Zealand Qualifications 
Framework 

12,589 Volume is 
demand-driven 

(estimated 
8,500–10,000)

10,674

Quality measure

The percentage of qualifications subject to external 
corroboration from two sources regarding the legitimacy  
of the qualification 

100% 100% 100%

Timeliness measure

The percentage of standard applications evaluated within  
35 working days (exclusive of any verification delays)

99.6% 96% 99.5%

The percentage of fast track applications evaluated within  
20 working days (exclusive of any verification delays)

100% 96% 99.5%
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Output 3.3: International liaison
NZQA works closely with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade to ensure New Zealand’s reputation for high 
quality education supports New Zealand’s export education aims.

PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Actual 

2014/15

Performance 
Standard 

2014/15
Actual  

2013/14

Quantity measure 

Support for the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade in free 
trade agreement negotiation meetings

13 Volume is 
demand-driven34

16

The number of free trade agreements for which NZQA has 
implementation responsibilities 

4 Volume is 
demand-driven

4

Quality measure

NZQA provides support for free trade negotiations and 
implements free trade agreements to the satisfaction of the 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade35

4 3 4

Timeliness measure

The Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade is satisfied with the 
timeliness of NZQA’s involvement with free trade negotiations 
and the implementation of NZQA’s free trade agreement 
responsibilities

4 3 4

34 The number of free trade agreement negotiation meetings is determined by the Minister of Foreign Affairs and Trade’s agenda. The 
current focus is on the implementation of agreed free trade agreements.

35 Scale 1 to 4: 1 is strongly disagree, 2 is disagree, 3 is agree and 4 is strongly agree.

47



Output Class 4

Output 4: Secondary School Assessment

Scope of appropriation

This appropriation is limited to the provision of overseeing assessment for national secondary school 
qualifications, including the National Certificate of Educational Achievement (NCEA) and Scholarship 
examinations, and the moderation of internal and external school assessment.

Purpose of appropriation

Every year approximately 165,000 learners aim to achieve NCEA. Ensuring a robust and equitable assessment 
system for New Zealand’s secondary learners is one of NZQA’s core functions. These performance measures 
provide an indication of how well NCEA is administered and the integrity of the secondary school assessments 
system is ensured. NZQA does this through measuring key aspects of the work, including the examination of 
standards and assessment systems.

Secondary School Assessment

2014–15 
Actual ($000)

2014–15 
Budget ($000)

Variance 
($000) 

Variance 
%

Revenue

Crown 26,730 26,480 250 1

Other 11,978 11,784 194 2

Total Income 38,708 38,264 444 1

Expenses 40,203 40,136 (67) –

Surplus (1,495) (1,872) 377 20

The additional Crown revenue represents funding for Youth Guarantee not in the original budget.

Approximately 69% of the total revenue for this output is provided by the Crown.
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Output 4.1: Secondary school external assessment
The successful delivery of external assessment for secondary school students through national examinations for 
NCEA is dependent upon NZQA administering robust examination processes.

PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Actual 

2014/15

Performance 
Standard 

2014/15
Actual  

2013/14

Quantity measure

The number of standards examined and assessed as part of the 
external assessment systems of the NCEA

284 Volume is 
demand-driven 

(estimate 
270–330)

278

Quality measure

The percentage of marker judgements unaltered following 
Review or Reconsideration of External Assessment Results 
process36

99.82% 99% 99.84%

Timeliness measure

The percentage of results provided to learners (NCEA) by the 
third full week of January

99.99% 99% 100%

36 During 2014/15 1,928 out of 1,089,356 marker judgements (0.18%) were altered following a successful review or reconsideration.  
The percentage of marker judgements unaltered was 99.82%. This was calculated as follows: 1,087,428 (1,089,356 less 1,928) divided  
by 1,089,356.
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Output 4.2: Secondary school internal assessment
NZQA’s moderation of internally (school) assessed student work promotes consistency in assessment decisions.

PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Actual 

2014/15

Performance 
Standard 

2014/15
Actual  

2013/14

Quantity and timeliness measure 

The number of samples of student work selected for 
secondary moderation 

113,564 Approximately 
100,00037

111,370

Quality measure

The percentage of moderation reports successfully appealed 0.11% <1% 0.18%

37 Approximately 10,000 samples are randomly selected, as a statistically valid, indicative snapshot. Approximately 90,000 extra samples 
are purposely selected, targeting areas of concern. These are randomly selected within the area of focus.
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Output 4.3: New Zealand Scholarship examinations
NZQA is responsible for ensuring that provided the published standard is met, scholarships are awarded to the 
top 3% (plus or minus 0.25%) of candidates in subject cohorts exceeding 250 students. The quality and timeliness 
of Scholarship administration is closely monitored.

PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Actual 

2014/15

Performance 
Standard 

2014/15
Actual  

2013/14

Quantity measure 

The number of subjects examined and assessed for 
New Zealand Scholarship

35 Volume is 
demand-driven 

(estimate 30–40)

New measure 
2014/15

Quality measures

The percentage of marker judgements unaltered following 
Review or Reconsideration of External Assessment Results 
process 

99.93% 99% 99.87%

Timeliness measure

The percentage of validated results provided to learners within 
the second full week of February

100% 99% 100%

51



Output 4.4: Secondary school assessment systems
NZQA conducts Managing National Assessment checks of secondary schools to promote continuous 
improvement in schools’ assessment practices to ensure they are accurate and consistent.

PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Actual 

2014/15

Performance 
Standard 

2014/15
Actual  

2013/14

Quantity measure 

The number of Managing National Assessment checks 
completed 

166 110–170 161

Quality measure

The percentage of significant issues identified by NZQA 
relating to the assessment of secondary students that are 
addressed by a monitored action plan

100% 100% 100%

Timeliness measure

The percentage of draft Managing National Assessment 
reports provided to schools within six weeks from the date of 
the completion of onsite work

100% 100% 100%
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Statement of  
Responsibility

We are responsible for the preparation of the New Zealand Qualifications Authority’s (NZQA) financial 
statements and statement of performance, and for the judgements made in them.

We are responsible for any end-of-year performance information provided by NZQA under section 19A of the 
Public Finance Act 1989.

We have the responsibility for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide 
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting.

In our opinion, these financial statements and statement of performance fairly reflect the financial position and 
operations of NZQA for the year ended 30 June 2015.

Signed on behalf of the Board:

Sue Suckling Neil Quigley

BOARD CHAIR BOARD MEMBER

22 September 2015 22 September 2015
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

 
To the readers of the 

New Zealand Qualifications Authority’s financial statements and 
performance information for the year ended 30 June 2015 

 

The Auditor-General is the auditor of the New Zealand Qualifications Authority (the Authority). 
The Auditor-General has appointed me, Clare Helm, using the staff and resources of 
Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements and the performance 
information, including the performance information for appropriations, of the Authority on her 
behalf.  

Opinion on the financial statements and the performance information 

We have audited: 

• the financial statements of the Authority on pages 57 to 86, that comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the statement of comprehensive 
revenue and expense, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for 
the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements that include 
accounting policies and other explanatory information; and 

• the performance information of the Authority on pages 15 to 27, and 36 to 52. 

In our opinion: 

• the financial statements of the Authority: 

¡ present fairly, in all material respects: 

• its financial position as at 30 June 2015; and 

• its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; 
and 

¡ comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and 
have been prepared in accordance with Public Benefit Entity Standards 

• the performance information: 

¡ presents fairly, in all material respects, the  Authority’s performance for the 
year ended 30 June 2015, including: 

• for each class of reportable outputs: 

• its standards of performance achieved as compared with 
forecasts included in the statement of performance 
expectations for the financial year; 

 

• its actual revenue and output expenses as compared with 
the forecasts included in the statement of performance 
expectations for the financial year;  

• what has been achieved with the appropriations; and 

• the actual expenses or capital expenditure incurred compared with 
the appropriated or forecast expenses or capital expenditure. 

¡ complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 

Our audit was completed on 22 September 2015. This is the date at which our opinion is 
expressed. 

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the 
Board and our responsibilities, and explain our independence. 

Basis of opinion 

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the performance information 
are free from material misstatement.  

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that, in our 
judgement, are likely to influence readers’ overall understanding of the financial statements 
and the performance information. If we had found material misstatements that were not 
corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion. 

An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements and the performance information. The procedures 
selected depend on our judgement, including our assessment of risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements and the performance information, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the preparation of the 
Authority’s financial statements and performance information in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. 

An audit also involves evaluating: 

• the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been 
consistently applied; 

• the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by 
the Board; 

• the appropriateness of the reported performance information within the Authority’s 
framework for reporting performance; 

• the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements and the performance 
information; and 

• the overall presentation of the financial statements and the performance information. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

 
To the readers of the 

New Zealand Qualifications Authority’s financial statements and 
performance information for the year ended 30 June 2015 

 

The Auditor-General is the auditor of the New Zealand Qualifications Authority (the Authority). 
The Auditor-General has appointed me, Clare Helm, using the staff and resources of 
Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements and the performance 
information, including the performance information for appropriations, of the Authority on her 
behalf.  

Opinion on the financial statements and the performance information 

We have audited: 

• the financial statements of the Authority on pages 57 to 86, that comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the statement of comprehensive 
revenue and expense, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for 
the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements that include 
accounting policies and other explanatory information; and 

• the performance information of the Authority on pages 15 to 27, and 36 to 52. 

In our opinion: 

• the financial statements of the Authority: 

¡ present fairly, in all material respects: 

• its financial position as at 30 June 2015; and 

• its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; 
and 

¡ comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and 
have been prepared in accordance with Public Benefit Entity Standards 

• the performance information: 

¡ presents fairly, in all material respects, the  Authority’s performance for the 
year ended 30 June 2015, including: 

• for each class of reportable outputs: 

• its standards of performance achieved as compared with 
forecasts included in the statement of performance 
expectations for the financial year; 

 

• its actual revenue and output expenses as compared with 
the forecasts included in the statement of performance 
expectations for the financial year;  

• what has been achieved with the appropriations; and 

• the actual expenses or capital expenditure incurred compared with 
the appropriated or forecast expenses or capital expenditure. 

¡ complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 

Our audit was completed on 22 September 2015. This is the date at which our opinion is 
expressed. 

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the 
Board and our responsibilities, and explain our independence. 

Basis of opinion 

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the performance information 
are free from material misstatement.  

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that, in our 
judgement, are likely to influence readers’ overall understanding of the financial statements 
and the performance information. If we had found material misstatements that were not 
corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion. 

An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements and the performance information. The procedures 
selected depend on our judgement, including our assessment of risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements and the performance information, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the preparation of the 
Authority’s financial statements and performance information in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. 

An audit also involves evaluating: 

• the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been 
consistently applied; 

• the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by 
the Board; 

• the appropriateness of the reported performance information within the Authority’s 
framework for reporting performance; 

• the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements and the performance 
information; and 

• the overall presentation of the financial statements and the performance information. 



56 NEW ZEALAND QUALIFICATIONS AUTHORITY ANNUAL REPORT 2014     2015
 

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the 
financial statements and the performance information. Also, we did not evaluate the security 
and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements and the performance 
information. 

We believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of the Board 

The Board is responsible for preparing financial statements and performance information that: 

• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;  

• present fairly the Authority’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows; 
and 

• present fairly the Authority’s performance. 

The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Public Finance Act 
1989.  

The Board is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements and performance information that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board is also responsible for the publication 
of the financial statements and the performance information, whether in printed or electronic 
form. 

Responsibilities of the Auditor 

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and the 
performance information and reporting that opinion to you based on our audit. Our 
responsibility arises from the Public Audit Act 2001. 

Independence 

When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence requirements of the 
Auditor-General, which incorporate the independence requirements of the External Reporting 
Board. 

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Authority. 

 

 

 

Clare Helm 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand 
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Statement of Comprehensive  
Revenue and Expense 
(for the year ended 30 June 2015)

Note

2015
Actual
($000)

2015
Budget
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

REVENUE

Funding from the Crown 41,279 41,029 41,016

Other revenue 41,400 39,385 38,968

Interest revenue 847 701 710

Total revenue 3 83,526 81,115 80,694

EXPENSES

Personnel and Board 5 42,817 42,903 40,600

Specialist workforce 9,883 9,752 9,832

Professional services 6 9,051 7,404 8,843

Publication, printing and distribution 4,380 4,247 4,206

Other operating costs 7 11,766 12,527 11,959

Depreciation and amortisation 4,736 4,863 5,600

Capital charge 8 1,111 1,111 1,111

Total expenses 83,744 82,807 82,151

(DEFICIT) (218) (1,692) (1,457)

Other comprehensive revenue and expense – – –

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE (218) (1,692) (1,457)

Since NZQA is a wholly owned Crown entity, the entire net surplus and total comprehensive revenue and 
expense are attributable to public equity.

Explanations of major variances against budget are detailed in note 2.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Statement of  
Financial Position 
(as at 30 June 2015)

Note

2015
Actual
($000)

2015
Budget
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9 3,248 1,985 3,166

Receivables 10 3,633 4,797 3,918

Prepayments 766 988 969

Investments 11 14,000 9,000 11,500

Total current assets 21,647 16,770 19,553

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 1,564 2,112 1,712

Intangible assets 13 5,419 9,472 6,336

Work in progress 13 1,918 2,000 2,470

Total non-current assets 8,901 13,584 10,518

TOTAL ASSETS 30,548 30,354 30,071

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 14 7,580 9,116 7,094

Employee entitlements 15 3,556 3,391 3,381

Total current liabilities 11,136 12,507 10,475

Non-current liabilities

Employee entitlements 15 522 574 488

Total non-current liabilities 522 574 488

TOTAL LIABILITIES 11,658 13,081 10,963

NET ASSETS 18,890 17,273 19,108

EQUITY

Contributed capital 13,890 13,890 13,890

Accumulated surplus 5,000 3,383 5,218

PUBLIC EQUITY 26 18,890 17,273 19,108

Explanations of major variances against budget are detailed in note 2.
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Statement of  
Changes in Equity 
(for the year ended 30 June 2015)

Note

2015
Actual
($000)

2015
Budget
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Balance at start of the year 19,108 18,965 20,565

Total comprehensive revenue and expense for the year (218) (1,692) (1,457)

BALANCE AT END OF THE YEAR 26 18,890 17,273 19,108

Explanations of major variances against budget are detailed in note 2.
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Statement of  
Cash Flows 
(for the year ended 30 June 2015)

Note

2015
Actual
($000)

2015
Budget
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from the Crown 41,279 41,029 41,016 

Receipts from other revenue 41,683 39,385 40,503 

Interest received 823 701 711 

Payments to employees and Board (42,608) (42,903) (40,562)

Payments to suppliers (34,282) (34,151) (35,294)

Payments for capital charge (1,111) (1,111) (1,111)

Goods and Services Tax (net) (83) – 34 

Net cash flow from operating activities 16 5,701 2,950 5,297 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from the sale of property, plant and equipment – – 3 

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (640) (750) (219)

Purchases of intangible assets (2,479) (4,700) (3,650)

Purchases of investments (34,000) (30,000) (31,542)

Receipts from sale of investments 31,500 32,000 30,542 

Net cash flow from investing activities (5,619) (3,450) (4,866)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Crown – Capital contribution – – –

Net cash flow from financing activities – – –

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents

82 (500) 431 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 3,166 2,485 2,735 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 
OF THE YEAR

9 3,248 1,985 3,166

Explanations of major variances against budget are detailed in note 2.
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Notes to the  
Financial Statements

1 Statement of Accounting Policies

REPORTING ENTITY

NZQA is a Crown Entity as defined by the Crown Entities Act 2004 and is domiciled and operates in 
New Zealand. As such, NZQA’s ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown.

NZQA’s primary objective is to provide services to the New Zealand public. NZQA ensures that New Zealand 
qualifications are valued as credible and robust both nationally and internationally. NZQA is accountable for 
managing the New Zealand Qualifications Framework, administering the secondary school assessment system, 
independent quality assurance of non-university education providers, qualifications recognition and standard 
setting for some specified unit standards. NZQA does not operate to make a financial return.

Accordingly, NZQA has designated itself as a public benefit entity (PBE) for financial reporting purposes.

The financial statements for NZQA are for the year ended 30 June 2015, and were approved by the Board on  
22 September 2015.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, and the accounting policies have been 
applied consistently throughout the period.

Statement of Compliance

The financial statements of NZQA have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Crown 
Entities Act 2004, which includes the requirement to comply with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in 
New Zealand (NZ GAAP).

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Tier 1 PBE accounting standards and comply 
with those standards.

These financial statements are the first financial statements presented in accordance with the new PBE accounting 
standards. Adjustments arising on transition to the new PBE accounting standards are explained in note 27.

Presentation currency and rounding

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($000).

Standards issued and not yet effective and not early adopted

In May 2013, the External Reporting Board issued a new suite of PBE accounting standards for application by 
public sector entities for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. NZQA has applied these standards 
in preparing the 30 June 2015 financial statements.

In October 2014, the PBE suite of accounting standards was updated to incorporate requirements and guidance 
for the not-for-profit sector. These updated standards apply to PBEs with reporting periods beginning on or after 
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1 April 2015. NZQA will apply these updated standards in preparing its 30 June 2016 financial statements.  
NZQA expects there will be minimum or no change in applying these updated accounting standards.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue

The specific accounting policies for significant revenue items are explained below:

Funding from the Crown

NZQA is primarily funded from the Crown. This funding is restricted in its use for the purpose of NZQA 
meeting the objectives specified in its founding legislation and as specified in the Statement of Intent.

NZQA considers there are no conditions attached to the funding and it is recognised as revenue at the point of 
entitlement. The fair value of funding has been determined to be equivalent to the amounts due in the funding 
arrangements.

Examination fees (including NCEA fees)

These are received in advance and are recognised as revenue when the exams are conducted.

Qualifications recognition services fees

These are received in advance and recognised as revenue as the work is completed.

Interest

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method.

Provision of services

Services provided to third parties on commercial terms are exchange transactions. Revenue from these services 
is recognised in proportion to the state of completion at the balance sheet date.

Capital charge

The capital charge is recognised as an expense in the financial year to which the charge relates.

Operating leases

An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
of an asset to the lessee. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus or deficit as a reduction of rental expense over the  
lease term.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of less than three months.

Receivables

Short-term receivables are recorded at their face value less any provision for impairment.

A receivable is considered impaired when there is evidence that NZQA will not be able to collect the amount 
due. The amount of the impairment is the difference between the carrying amount of the receivable and the 
present value of the amounts expected to be collected.

Investments

Investments represent term deposits held with banks with original maturities of three months and above and are 
initially measured at the amount invested. After initial recognition, such investments are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment asset classes consist of computers and electronic equipment, leasehold 
improvements, furniture and fittings, office equipment and motor vehicles.

Property, plant and equipment are shown at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Additions

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to NZQA and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably.

In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at its cost. Where an asset is 
acquired through a non-exchange transaction, it is recognised at its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Disposals

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. 
Gains and losses on disposals are reported net in the surplus or deficit.

Subsequent costs

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to NZQA and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the surplus or deficit as they 
are incurred.
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Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment, at rates that will write off 
the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual values over their useful lives. The useful lives and 
associated depreciation rates of major classes of property, plant and equipment have been estimated as follows:

Electronic equipment (desktop and notebooks) 4 years 25%

Electronic equipment (network equipment and servers) 3–5 years 20%–33%

Furniture and fittings 10 years 10%

Office equipment 5 years 20%

Leasehold improvements *see below *see below

Motor vehicles 4 years 25%

*Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated remaining 
useful lives of the improvements, whichever is the shorter.

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each financial year end.

Intangible assets

Software acquisition and development

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to 
use the specific software.

Costs that are directly associated with the development of software for internal use by NZQA are recognised 
as an intangible asset. Direct costs include software development, employee costs and an appropriate portion of 
relevant overheads.

Staff training costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Costs associated with the development of NZQA’s website are capitalised and amortised over the period of the 
life of the asset in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice.

Amortisation

The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life. 
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised. The 
amortisation charge for each financial year is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have been estimated for 
each specific individual item of acquired and developed computer software. Refer to note 13 for the estimated 
useful lives for intangible assets.
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

NZQA does not hold any cash-generating assets. Assets are considered cash-generating where their primary 
objective is to generate a commercial return.

Non-cash generating assets

Property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets held at cost that have a finite useful life are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable service amount. The recoverable service amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use.

Value in use is determined using an approach based on either a depreciated replacement cost approach, 
restoration cost approach, or a service units approach. The most appropriate approach used to measure value in 
use depends on the nature of the impairment and availability of information.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the 
carrying amount is written-down to the recoverable amount. The total impairment loss is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit.

The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Payables

Short-term payables are recorded at their face value.

Employee entitlements

Short-term employee entitlements

Employee benefits that NZQA expects to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the 
employee renders the related service are measured based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay.

These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned but not yet taken at balance 
date, and sick leave.

NZQA recognises a liability for sick leave to the extent that compensated absences in the coming year are 
expected to be greater than the sick leave entitlements earned in the coming year. The amount is calculated 
based on the unused sick leave entitlement that can be carried forward at balance date; to the extent NZQA 
anticipates it will be used by staff to cover those future absences.

NZQA recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where it is contractually obliged to pay them, or where 
there is past practice that has created a constructive obligation and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be 
made.

Long-term employee entitlements

Employee benefits that are due to be settled beyond 12 months after the end of the period in which the 
employee renders the related service, such as long service leave and retirement leave, have been calculated on an 
actuarial basis.
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The calculations are based on:

 › likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on years of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood that staff will 
reach the point of entitlement and contractual entitlements information; and

 › the present value of the estimated future cash flows.

The discount rate is based on the weighted average of interest rates for government stock with terms to 
maturity similar to those of the relevant liabilities. The inflation factor is based on the expected long-term 
increase in remuneration for employees.

Presentation of employee entitlements

Sick leave, annual leave, and vested long service leave are classified as a current liability. Non-vested long service 
leave and retirement leave expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date are classified as a current 
liability. All other employee entitlements are classified as a non-current liability.

Superannuation schemes

Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver, the Government Superannuation Fund and other NZQA 
Superannuation schemes are accounted for as defined contribution superannuation schemes and are recognised 
as an expense in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

Provisions

NZQA recognises a provision for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when there is a present 
obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of future 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest 
expense.

Equity

Equity is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified 
into the following components:

 › contributed capital

 › accumulated surplus

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

All items in the financial statements are presented exclusive of GST, except for receivables and payables, which 
are presented on a GST inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable as input tax, then it is recognised as part 
of the related asset or expense.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department (IRD) is included as 
part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
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The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is 
classified as an operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.

Income tax

NZQA is a public authority and consequently is exempt from the payment of income tax. Accordingly, no 
provision for income tax has been made.

Budget figures

The budget figures are derived from the statement of performance expectations as approved by the Board at 
the beginning of the financial year. The budget figures have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, using 
accounting policies that are consistent with those adopted by the Board in preparing these financial statements.

Cost allocation

NZQA has determined the cost of outputs using the cost allocation system outlined below.

Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output. Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be 
identified in an economically feasible manner, with a specific output.

Direct costs are charged directly to outputs. Indirect costs are charged to outputs based on cost drivers and 
related activity/usage information. Depreciation is charged on the basis of asset utilisation. Personnel costs 
are charged on the basis of actual time incurred. Property and other premises costs, such as maintenance, are 
charged on the basis of floor area occupied for the production of each output. Other indirect costs are assigned 
to outputs based on the proportion of direct staff costs for each output.

There have been no changes to the cost allocation methodology since the date of the last audited financial 
statements.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

In preparing these financial statements, NZQA has made estimates and assumptions concerning the future. 
These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below:

Estimating useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment

At each balance date, NZQA reviews the useful lives and residual values of its property, plant and equipment. 
Assessing the appropriateness of useful life and residual value estimates of property, plant and equipment 
requires NZQA to consider a number of factors such as the physical condition of the asset, expected period of 
use of the asset by NZQA and expected disposal proceeds from the future sale of the asset.
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An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will impact the depreciation expense recognised in the 
surplus or deficit and carrying amount of the asset in the statement of financial position. NZQA minimises the 
risk of the estimation uncertainty by:

 › physical inspection of assets;

 › asset replacement programmes;

 › review of second hand market prices for similar assets; and

 › analysis of prior asset sales.

NZQA has not made significant changes to past assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values.

Intangible assets

At each balance date NZQA reviews the useful lives and residual values of its intangible assets taking into account 
expected future use. NZQA also considers the life of a system during information communication technology 
(ICT) strategic plan updates and reviews the life based on the expected life of the business process involved and 
likelihood the technology will stay current and supportable.

Retirement and long service leave

Note 15 provides an analysis of the exposure in relation to estimates and uncertainties surrounding retirement 
and long service leave liabilities.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

Management has exercised no critical judgements in applying accounting policies for the year ended 30 June 2015.

2 Explanation of major variances against budget

Explanations for major variances from NZQA budgeted figures in the Statement of Performance Expectations 
are as follows:

Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense

The net deficit for the year ended 30 June 2015 of $0.2M compares with a budget deficit of $1.7M. There were a 
number of variances from budget with the more significant ones being:

 › Other revenue is $2.0M ahead of budget largely reflecting increased demand and therefore volume of qualification 
recognition fees.

 › Professional services costs are $1.6M over budget reflecting lower capitalised contractor costs (see comment on 
intangibles below) and increased contractor costs in the Approvals and Accreditation and External Evaluation and Review 
areas to meet service deliverables.

 › Other operating costs are $0.8M below budget following effective management control and a reduction in travel related 
costs and telephony.
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Statement of Financial Position

Net assets at 30 June 2015 were $18.9M compared to a budget of $17.3M. Within individual lines, the significant 
variances are largely a result of timing and classification differences and are as follows:

 › Cash and cash equivalents are $1.3M above budget. This is a prudent move to minimise the risk of interest rate loss that 
would arise if term deposits were broken.

 › Receivables are $1.2M below budget due to timing of receipts and invoicing differing to that originally expected.

 › Investments are $5M above budget largely reflecting the reduction in intangible assets (see below).

 › Property, plant and equipment are $0.5M below budget. This is primarily a result of the drive to maximise the use and life 
of existing computer hardware.

 › Intangible assets are $4M below budget. This is the result of reshaping the scope and extent of information technology 
projects as a measured approach is taken to Future State projects. In addition some projects have been more complex 
than originally expected and therefore seen a higher level of research (non-capitalised) related expenditure.

 › Creditors and payables are $1.5M below budget. This reflects a reduction in accruals and invoiced creditors as a result of 
the reduced spend on intangibles compared to budget (see above).

Statement of Cash Flows

The main variances are explained below:

 › Receipts from other revenue are $2.3M ahead of budget largely reflecting increased cash from qualification  
recognition fees.

 › Purchases of intangible fixed assets are $2.2M below budget following a reduction in the capital work programme given 
the reshaping and measured approach taken to the Future State projects.

 › Purchases of investments are $4M ahead of budget reflecting the increase in year-end investments or term deposits over 
that initially expected.
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3 Revenue

NZQA has been provided with funding from the Crown for the specific purposes of NZQA, as set out in 
its founding legislation and the scope of the relevant government appropriations. Apart from these general 
restrictions, there are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached to government funding (2014: nil).

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Crown funding for:

Provision of information and advisory services  3,726  3,726 

Quality assurance  4,774  4,761 

Qualifications support structures  6,049  6,049 

Secondary school assessment  26,730  26,480 

Total funding from the Crown  41,279  41,016 

Other revenue

Examination fee remissions*  1,288  1,288 

Examination revenue  10,077  9,988 

NQF fees and registration  16,908  16,298 

Application, audit and annual fees**  11,000  9,399 

Resources sales  1,076  1,127 

Other income and award reimbursement***  1,051  868 

Total other revenue  41,400  38,968 

Interest revenue  847  710 

Total revenue  83,526  80,694

* Received from the Crown’s “Benefit & Other Unrequited Expenses” fund.

** Includes $352,000 (2014: $352,000) from Immigration New Zealand for Quality Assurance work on the list of qualifications  
exempt for assessment. 

*** Includes $350,000 (2014: $670,000) received for projects through inter-departmental funding.
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4 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Net (gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment  –  (2)

Total (gains)  –  (2)

5 Personnel and Board

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Salaries and wages  40,911  38,831

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans  1,697  1,731 

Increase in other employee entitlements (note 15)  209  38 

Total personnel and Board costs  42,817  40,600

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans include contributions to KiwiSaver, the Government 
Superannuation Fund and other NZQA Superannuation schemes.

6 Professional services

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Audit fees to Audit New Zealand for financial statement audit 94 94 

Fees to Audit New Zealand for other services – –

Consultancy and Contractor fees 4,493 4,513 

Moderation Rebates 3,994 3,750 

Other fees 470 486 

Total professional services costs 9,051  8,843
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7 Other operating costs

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Travel and accommodation  2,775  3,008 

Office rental – operating lease expense  3,194  3,188 

Hardware maintenance and support  127  88 

Software licences and support  1,980  1,921 

Information technology outsourcing  216  228 

Telephony  489  547 

Provision for doubtful debt increase/(decrease)  21  (41)

Bad debt write-off  38  76 

Minor equipment purchases  147  121 

Schools administration fees  795  797 

Other  1,984  2,026 

Total other operating costs  11,766  11,959

8 Capital charge

NZQA pays a capital charge to the Crown on its taxpayers’ funds as at 30 June and 31 December each year.  
The capital charge rate for the year ended 30 June 2015 was 8% (2014: 8%).

9 Cash and cash equivalents

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Cash on hand and at bank  3,248  3,166 

Cash equivalents – term deposits < 3 months – –

Total cash and cash equivalents  3,248  3,166
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10 Receivables

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Receivables  3,658  3,922 

Less:  provision for impairment  (25)  (4)

Total receivables  3,633  3,918

All receivables derive from the sale of goods and services (exchange transactions).

The ageing profile of receivables at year end is detailed below:

2015 2014

Gross
($000)

Impair-
ment

($000)
Net

($000)
Gross
($000)

Impair-
ment

($000)
Net

($000)

Not past due  3,596  –  3,596  3,834 –  3,834 

Past due 1–30 days  20 –  20  53 –  53 

Past due 31–60 days  6 –  6  7 –  7 

Past due 61–90 days  8 –  8  3 –  3 

Past due > 91 days  28  (25)  3  25  (4)  21 

Total debtors  3,658  (25)  3,633  3,922  (4)  3,918

All receivables greater than 30 days in age are considered to be past due.

The provision for impairment has been calculated based on expected losses for NZQA’s pool of debtors. 
Expected losses have been determined based on a review of specific debtors and an analysis of NZQA’s losses in 
previous periods.

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Balance at 1 July  4  45 

Additional provisions made during the year  59  35 

Receivables written off during the year  (38)  (76)

Balance at 30 June  25  4
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11 Investments

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Term deposits – current  14,000  11,500 

Total investments  14,000  11,500

There is no impairment provision for investments. All term deposits have original maturities of between 3 and  
12 months and the carrying amounts approximate their fair value.
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12 Property, plant and equipment (PPE)

Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Motor 
vehicles

($000)

Computers 
& 

electronic 
equipment

($000)

Office 
equipment

($000)

Leasehold 
improve-

ments
($000)

Furniture & 
fittings
($000)

Total
($000)

Cost 

Balance at 1 July 2013  205  7,976  1,385  541  1,266  11,373 

Additions  –  202  17  –  –  219 

Disposals  (23)  (1,160)  –  (2)  –  (1,185)

Balance at 30 June 2014  182  7,018  1,402  539  1,266  10,407 

Additions  –  640  –  –  –  640 

Disposals  –  (141)  –  –  –  (141)

Balance at 30 June 2015  182  7,517  1,402  539  1,266  10,906 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2013  200  6,119  1,385  405  819  8,928 

Depreciation expense  5  844  3  25  74  951 

Impairment losses  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Eliminated on disposal  (23)  (1,159)  –  (2)  –  (1,184)

Balance at 30 June 2014  182  5,804  1,388  428  893  8,695 

Depreciation expense  –  689  4  25  70  788 

Impairment losses  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Eliminated on disposal  –  (141)  –  –  –  (141)

Balance at 30 June 2015  182  6,352  1,392  453  963  9,342 

Carrying amounts

Balance at 1 July 2013  5  1,857  –  136  447  2,445 

At 30 June and 1 July 2014  –  1,214  14  111  373  1,712 

Balance at 30 June 2015  –  1,165  10  86  303  1,564

No impairment charge (2014: nil) was recognised during the year.

There are no restrictions over the title of NZQA’s property, plant and equipment, nor are any such assets 
pledged as security for liabilities.
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13 Intangible assets

Acquired 
software

($000)

Internally 
generated 

software
($000)

Total
($000)

Cost

Balance at 1 July 2013  4,144  32,080  36,224 

Additions  159  2,550  2,709 

Disposals  –  –  – 

Balance at 30 June 2014  4,303  34,630  38,933 

Additions  –  3,031  3,031 

Disposals  –  –  – 

Balance at 30 June 2015  4,303  37,661  41,964 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2013  4,044  24,497  28,541 

Amortisation expense  84  3,972  4,056 

Disposals  –  –  – 

Impairment losses  –  –  – 

Balance at 30 June 2014  4,128  28,469  32,597 

Amortisation expense  49  3,899  3,948 

Disposals  –  –  – 

Impairment losses  –  –  – 

Balance at 30 June 2015  4,177  32,368  36,545 

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2013  100  7,583  7,683 

At 30 June and 1 July 2014  175  6,161  6,336 

Balance at 30 June 2015  126  5,293  5,419 

Work in progress

Other  –  1,918  2,470 

Balance at 30 June 2015  –  1,918  2,470
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2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Work in progress – intangible assets

Opening balance  2,470  2,122 

Additions  2,479  3,650 

Impairment losses –  (593)

Transfers to assets  (3,031)  (2,709)

Balance at 30 June 2015  1,918  2,470

An impairment charge of $nil (2014: $593,000) was recognised during the year. The charge for the prior year 
resulted from the write down of a particular software project to nil since on reassessment of the project the 
capitalisation criteria required by the accounting standards were not considered to be met.

Intangible asset breakdown  
(including Work In Progress)

 Life  
(years)

Total       
($000)

NCEA course endorsements 4 338

Batch Processing Enhancements 4 303

NCEA Automation 4 301

Youth Guarantee Information Systems 4 1,362

Evaluation Engine 4 624

Evaluation Engine (WIP) N/A 497

Sector Qualifications Register (WIP) N/A 528

Various Software systems <$300,000 net book value 3–5 3,384

Balance at 30 June 2015  7,337

There are no restrictions over the title of NZQA’s intangible assets, nor are any intangible assets pledged as 
security for liabilities.
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14 Payables

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Payables under exchange transactions

Creditors  1,201  584 

Revenue in advance  852  878 

Accruals  4,502  4,528 

Total payables under exchange transactions  6,555  5,990 

Payables under non-exchange transactions

Taxes payable (GST, PAYE)  1,025  1,104 

Total payables under non-exchange transactions  1,025  1,104 

Total payables  7,580  7,094

15  Employee entitlements

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Current portion:

Accrued salaries and wages  1,137  955 

Annual leave  2,024  2,080 

Sick leave  129  48 

Retirement and long service leave  266  298 

Total current portion  3,556  3,381 

Non-current portion:

Retirement and long service leave  522  488 

Total non-current portion  522  488 

Total employee entitlements  4,078  3,869
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Key assumptions in measuring retirement and long service leave obligations

The present value of the retirement and long service leave obligations depends on a number of factors that are 
determined on an actuarial basis. Two key assumptions used in calculating this liability include the discount rate 
and the salary inflation factor. Any changes in these assumptions will affect the carrying amount of the liability.

Expected future payments are discounted using forward discount rates derived from the yield curve of 
New Zealand Government bonds. The discount rates used have maturities that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows. The salary inflation factor has been determined after considering historical salary 
inflation patterns and after obtaining advice from an independent actuary. A weighted averaged discount rate of 
4.6% (2014: 4.8%) was used and a salary inflation factor of 3.5% (2014: 3.5%) were used.

If the discount rate were to differ by 1% from that used, with all other factors held constant, the carrying amount 
of the retirement and long service leave liability would be approximately $31,000 higher/lower.

If the salary inflation factor were to differ by 1% from that used, with all other factors held constant, the carrying 
amount of the retirement and long service liability would be approximately $31,000 higher/lower.

16 Reconciliation of net (deficit) to net cash flow from 
operating activities

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Net (deficit) (218) (1,457)

Add/(less) non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation expense 4,736 5,007

Impairment charges – 593

Increase/(decrease) in doubtful debt provision 21 (41)

Total non-cash items 4,757 5,559

Add/(less) items classified as investing or financing activities

Gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment – (2)

Total items classified as investing or financing activities – (2)

Add/(less) movements in working capital items

Decrease in receivables 264 1,487

Decrease in prepayments 203 32

Increase/(decrease) in payables 486 (360)

Increase in employee entitlements 209 38

Net movements in working capital items 1,162 1,197

Net cash flow from operating activities 5,701 5,297
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17 Capital commitments and operating leases

Operating leases as lessees

The future aggregate minimum lease payments to be paid under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Not later than one year  3,245  3,236 

Later than one year and not later than five years  8,050  10,838 

Later than five years – –

Total non-cancellable operating leases  11,295  14,074

A significant portion of the total non-cancellable operating lease expense relates to the lease of a number of 
floors of office buildings which expires 31 December 2018, with two further 3-year right of renewals. NZQA 
has assumed that it will vacate the premises at the lease renewal date of December 2018 for the purposes of 
calculating the operating lease commitments disclosed above. NZQA does not have the option to purchase the 
asset at the end of the lease term.

There are no restrictions placed on NZQA by any of its leasing arrangements.

Capital commitments

There are no capital commitments as at 30 June 2015 (2014: nil).

18 Contingencies

Contingent liabilities

NZQA has no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2015 (2014: $nil).

Contingent assets

NZQA has no contingent assets as at 30 June 2015 (2014: $nil).
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19 Related party transactions and key management 
personnel

Related party transactions

NZQA is a wholly owned entity of the Crown.

Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are within a normal 
supplier or client/recipient relationship on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those that 
it is reasonable to expect NZQA would have adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the same 
circumstances. Further, transactions with other government agencies (for example, Government departments 
and Crown entities) are not disclosed as related party transactions when they are consistent with the normal 
operating arrangements between government agencies and undertaken on the normal terms and conditions for 
such transactions.

There are no related party transactions with key management personnel other than compensation as noted 
below (2014: nil).

Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel include the Board, the Chief Executive and the members of the Strategic 
Management Team.

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Board Members

Remuneration 197 214

Full-time equivalent members 1.10 1.30

Strategic Management Team

Remuneration 1,627 1,469

Full-time equivalent members 5.25 5.00

Total key management personnel remuneration 1,824 1,683

Total full-time equivalent personnel 6.35 6.30

The full time equivalent for Board members has been determined based on the frequency and length of Board 
meetings and the estimated time for Board members to prepare for meetings.

Ministerial disclosures

The Treasury advises that responsible ministers Hon Hekia Parata and Hon Steven Joyce have certified that they 
have no related party transactions for the year ended 30 June 2015 (2014: $nil).
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20 Board member remuneration

The total value of remuneration paid or payable to each Board member during the year was:

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Sue Suckling (Chairperson)  40  40 

Alison McAlpine (resigned 18 March 2014) –  14 

Andrew McKenzie  20  20 

John Morgan  20  20 

Murray Strong  20  20 

Neil Quigley  20  20 

Tanira Kingi (resigned 30 April 2015)  17  20 

Linda Aumua  20  20 

Dr Judith Johnston  20  20 

Gillian Heald  20  20 

Total Board member remuneration  197  214

There have been no payments made to committee members appointed by the Board who are not Board 
members during the financial year and no Board members received compensation or other benefits in relation to 
cessation (2014: nil).

NZQA has taken out Directors and Officers Liability and Professional Indemnity insurance cover during the 
financial year in respect of the liability or costs of Board members and employees.
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21 Employee remuneration

Remuneration paid or payable:

           Number of staff

2015 2014

$460,000 – $469,999  1 –

$430,000 – $439,999 –  1 

$290,000 – $299,999  2 –

$280,000 – $289,999  1 –

$270,000 – $279,999 –  1 

$240,000 – $249,999  1  1 

$230,000 – $239,999 –  1 

$200,000 – $209,000  1 –

$190,000 – $199,999 –  1 

$180,000 – $189,999  1  1 

$170,000 – $179,999  1  1 

$160,000 – $169,999  1  1 

$150,000 – $159,999  6  1 

$140,000 – $149,999  5  2 

$130,000 – $139,999  10  5 

$120,000 – $129,999  9  9 

$110,000 – $119,999  22  12 

$100,000 – $109,999  36  28 

Total employees  97  65

During the year ended 30 June 2015, 6 employees (2014: 1) received compensation and other benefits in relation 
to cessation totalling $180,000 (2014: $16,000).

22 Events after the balance sheet date

There were no significant events after the balance sheet date.
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23 Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:

2015
Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents  3,248  3,166 

Receivables  3,633  3,918 

Investments – Term deposits  14,000  11,500 

Total loans and receivables  20,881  18,584 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Payables (excluding revenue in advance & taxes payable)  (5,703)  (5,112)

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  (5,703)  (5,112)

24 Financial instruments risks

NZQA’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instruments risks, including market risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk. NZQA has a series of policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments and seeks to 
minimise exposure from financial instruments. These policies do not allow any transactions that are speculative in 
nature to be entered into.

Market risk

Fair value interest rate risk

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
in market interest rates. NZQA’s exposure to fair value interest rate risk is limited to its cash at bank and 
investments. Investments are held at fixed rates of interest and cash at bank is held at variable rates. NZQA does 
not actively manage its exposure to fair value interest rate risk.

Cash flow interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. NZQA is not exposed to cash flow interest rate risk as it does not have 
investments issued at variable interest rates.
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Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange 
rates. NZQA is not exposed to currency risk as it does not enter into transactions of this nature.

Sensitivity analysis

For financial instruments held at balance date, NZQA has no exposure to market risks on those financial 
instruments that give rise to an impact on the surplus/deficit and equity.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to NZQA, causing NZQA to incur a loss.

Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, NZQA invests surplus cash with registered banks. NZQA’s 
investment policy limits the amount of credit exposure by only investing funds with registered banks that have at 
least a current Standard and Poor’s credit rating within the AA band. NZQA also has processes in place to review 
the credit quality of customers prior to the granting of credit.

NZQA’s maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is represented by the total carrying 
amount of cash and cash equivalents (note 9), receivables (note 10) and investments (note 11). No collateral is 
held as security against these financial instruments, including those instruments that are overdue or impaired.

The only significant concentrations of credit risk relate to $3.2M of cash and $8M of term deposits which are 
both held with Bank of New Zealand which has a Standard and Poor’s credit rating of AA-. A further $6M of 
term deposits is held with Westpac which has a Standard and Poor’s credit rating of AA-.

There are no significant balances at 30 June 2015 with receivables (i.e. counterparties without credit ratings) who 
have defaulted in the past.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that NZQA will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they 
fall due. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through 
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. NZQA aims to 
maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available and manages liquidity risk by monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flow requirements.

All financial liabilities are due for payment within 6 months of balance sheet date. The carrying amount of all 
financial liabilities is equivalent to the contractual cash flows required to extinguish the liability.
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25 Capital management

NZQA’s capital or equity comprises retained surpluses and contributed capital. Equity is represented by net 
assets.

NZQA is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Crown Entities Act 2004, 
which imposes restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing guarantees and indemnities 
and the use of derivatives. NZQA has complied with the financial management requirements of the Crown 
Entities Act 2004 during the year.

NZQA manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and 
general financial dealings to ensure NZQA effectively achieves its objectives and purpose, whist remaining a going 
concern.

26 Equity
2015

Actual
($000)

2014
Actual
($000)

Contributed capital

Balance at start of the year  13,890  13,890 

Capital contribution – –

Balance at end of the year  13,890  13,890 

Accumulated surplus

Balance at start of the year  5,218  6,675 

(Deficit) for the year  (218)  (1,457)

Balance at end of the year  5,000  5,218 

Total equity  18,890  19,108

27 Adjustments arising on transition to the new  
PBE accounting standards

There have been no recognition or measurement adjustments to the 30 June 2014 comparative information 
resulting from the transition to the new PBE accounting standards.

There have however been some minor changes to the narrative and categories of liabilities which has resulted in 
less detailed disclosure on the face of the statement of financial position but greater disclosure and analysis within 
the notes to the financial statements.
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